
BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Ms. Jane Royer Barr 
Ms. Rose Filicetti 
Ms. Sandra Nichols 
Ms. Sue Roth 
Mr. Dana M. Sales 
Mr. Abel Sanchez 
Mr. Bruce Van Allen 

Santa Cruz County Board of Education Regular Board Meeting 
Santa Cruz County Office of Education July 19, 2018 
400 Encinal Street Time: 4:00 p.m. 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 Board Room 

AGENDA 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM 

Bruce Van Allen (President), Jane Royer Barr, Rose Filicetti, Sandra Nichols, Sue Roth, 
Dana Sales, Abel Sanchez 
Michael Watkins, Secretary 

2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Bruce Van Allen (President) will lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3.0 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Agenda deletions and/or changes of sequence will be approved or the agenda will be approved as 
submitted. 

4.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

This is an opportunity for the public to address the Board regarding items not on the agenda.  The 
Board President will recognize any member of the audience not previously placed on the agenda 
who wishes to speak on a matter directly related to school business.  Each speaker, on any 
specific topic, may speak up to three (3) minutes unless otherwise limited or extended by the 
President.  The President may allot time to those wishing to speak but no action will be taken on 
matters presented (E.C. Section 35145.5).  If appropriate, the President, or any Member of the 
Board, may direct that a matter be referred to the Superintendent’s Office for placement on a 
future agenda.  Please refer to item, Please Note, on the last page of this agenda. 

5.0 CONSENT AGENDA 

All items appearing on the consent agenda are recommended actions, which are considered to be 
routine in nature and will be acted upon as one motion.  Specific items may be removed for 
separate consideration.  Item(s) removed will be considered immediately following the consent 
agenda motion as Deferred Consent Items. 

5.0.1 Minutes of Special Board Meeting/Retreat held on June 1, 2018 
5.0.2 Minutes of Special Board Meeting held on June 14, 2018 
5.0.3 Minutes of Board Meeting held on June 21, 2018 
5.0.4 Donations 

1



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 2 
Agenda, Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2018 

5.1 DEFERRED CONSENT ITEMS (if required) 

This item is placed on the agenda to address any items that might be pulled from Agenda 
Item 5.0 for further discussion/consideration if so determined. 

6.0 CORRESPONDENCE 

Correspondence will be available for review at the meeting location. 

7.0 RECOGNITIONS 

7.1 Rebecca Bogdan 

The Board will recognize Rebecca Bogdan, School Nurse, Special Education 
Department, for her 20 years of service to the Santa Cruz County Office of Education. 

Presenter:  Michael Watkins, Superintendent 

7.2 Mary Anne James 

The Board will recognize Mary Anne James, Associate Superintendent, Educational Services 
for her six years of service to the Santa Cruz County Office of Education and her 35 years of 
service to Education. 

Presenter:  Michael Watkins, Superintendent 

8.0 REPORTS, DISCUSSIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

8.1 Childhood Advisory Council 

The Board will receive a presentation concerning the Childhood Advisory Council’s 5-
Year Master Plan.  The Childhood Advisory Council is a state funded commission with 
members appointed by the County Superintendent of Schools and County Board of 
Supervisors.  The Council provides leadership for the assessment, development and 
sustainability of quality early care and education and school age recreation options in 
Santa Cruz County. 

Presenters:  Martine Watkins, Senior Community Organizer 
Diane Munoz, Childhood Advisory Council Coordinator 

9.0 PUBLIC HEARINGS/NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

9.1 Watsonville Prep School 

The Board will conduct a Public Hearing to solicit input from members of the public 
regarding the creation of a countywide charter school in Watsonville (Watsonville Prep 
School). 

Open, Conduct, and Close the Public Hearing:  Bruce Van Allen (President) 

2



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 3 
Agenda, Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2018 

10.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

11.0 SUPERINTENDENT REPORT 

County Superintendent of Schools, Michael C. Watkins, will provide an update on activities and 
matters of interest. 

12.0 TRUSTEE REPORTS (3 minutes each) 

Trustees will report on matters, events and activities as related to Board goals of:  Advocating for 
students, maintaining community relations and promoting student achievement. 

13.0 AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORTS/ACTIONS (if any) 

14.0 ADDITIONS, IF ANY, TO FUTURE BOARD AGENDA ITEMS 

15.0 SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS AND COMING EVENTS 

August 16, 2018 Regular Meeting of the County Board of Education 
4:00 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

August 20, 2018 SCCOE Employee Orientation Meeting 
8:00 a.m. Sequoia Schools 

229 Green Valley Rd. 
Freedom, CA 95019 

September 20, 2018 Regular Meeting of the County Board of Education 
4:00 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

October 18, 2018 Regular Meeting of the County Board of Education 
4:00 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

16.0 ADJOURNMENT 

The Board President will adjourn the meeting. 

3



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 4 
Agenda, Regular Meeting 
July 19, 2018 

PLEASE NOTE: 

Public Participation: 

All persons are encouraged to attend and, when appropriate, to participate in meetings of the Santa Cruz County Board of Education.  If you wish to 
speak to an item on the agenda, please be present at the beginning of the meeting as any item, upon motion, may be moved to the beginning of the 
agenda.  Persons wishing to address the Board are asked to state their name for the record.  The president of the Board will establish a time limit of 
three (3) minutes, unless otherwise stated by the president, for comments from the public.  Consideration of all matters is conducted in open session 
except those relating to litigation, personnel and employee negotiations, which, by law, may be considered in closed session.  Expulsion appeal 
hearings are heard in closed session unless a request for hearing in open session is made by the appellant. 

Backup Documentation: 

Any writings or documents that are public records and are provided to a majority of the governing board regarding an open session item on this agenda 
will be made available for public inspection in the County Office of Education, located 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060, during normal 
business hours. 

Translation Requests: 

Spanish language translation is available on an as-needed basis.  Please make advance arrangements with Jim Guss by telephone at (831) 466-5900.  
Traducciones del inglés al español y del español al inglés están disponibles en las sesiones de la mesa directiva.  Por favor haga arreglos por anticipado 
con Jim Guss por teléfono al numero (831) 466-5900. 

ADA Compliance: 

In compliance with Government Code section 54954.2 (a), The Santa Cruz County Office of Education will, on request, make this agenda available in 
appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec 
12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof.  Individuals who need this agenda in an alternative format or who 
need a disability-related modification or accommodation in order to participate in the meeting should contact Jim Guss, Administrative Aide to the 
Superintendent, 400 Encinal St., Santa Cruz, CA 95060, (831) 466-5900. 

4



July 19, 2018 Agenda Item #5.0.1 

SUPERINTENDENT’S RECOMMENDATION FOR BOARD ACTION 

SUBJECT: 

Consent Agenda:  Special Board Meeting/Retreat Minutes, June 1, 2018 

DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM: 

Santa Cruz County Board of Education 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Board Approval 

PREVIOUS STAFF/BOARD ACTION: 

None 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND/OR STATEMENT OF NEED: 

Consent Agenda items are recommended for approval as actions routine in nature and acted upon 
as one motion.  Specific items may be removed for separate consideration. 

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: 

None 

CONTACT PERSON(S): 

Michael Watkins, Superintendent 
Jim Guss, Administrative Aide to the Superintendent 

5



BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Ms. Jane Royer Barr 
Ms. Rose Filicetti 
Ms. Sandra Nichols 
Ms. Sue Roth 
Mr. Dana M. Sales 
Mr. Abel Sanchez 
Mr. Bruce Van Allen

Santa Cruz County Board of Education Special Board Meeting/Retreat 
Santa Cruz County Office of Education June 1, 2018 
399 Encinal Street Time: 9:00 a.m. 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 COE Annex 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM 

Board Present Staff Present 

Bruce Van Allen (President) Faris Sabbah 
Sue Roth (Vice-President) Mary Hart 
Jane Barr Mary Anne James 
Rose Filicetti Troy Cope 
Sandra Nichols Jim Guss 
Dana Sales 
Abel Sanchez 

Absent 

None 

2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Bruce Van Allen (President) led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3.0 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

It was M.S.C (Filicetti/Sales) to approve the Agenda. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  None 

4.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

None. 

5.0 REPORTS, DISCUSSIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

5.1 Review of Vision, Mission and Philosophy 

Deputy Superintendent Faris Sabbah led a discussion with the Board on the current 
Vision, Mission and Philosophy of the COE and then reviewed the Vision, Mission and 
Philosophy statements from a number of County Offices of Education throughout the 
state. 

After some conversation, the Board decided that Policy Committee should look further 
into this subject, come up with ideas and bring them back to the Board to discuss further. 

6



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 2 
Special Board Meeting/Retreat 
June 1, 2018 

5.2 Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) 

Mary Anne James, Associate Superintendent, Educational Services, presented to the 
Board a review and update on the Local Control and Accountability Plan and the key 
areas that Trustees should Trustees should keep in mind when reviewing the LCAP for 
COE programs. 

5.3 Role of Trustees Concerning District Fiscal Oversight 

Jean Gardner, Senior Director, Fiscal Services provided to the Board a very detailed 
presentation on the role that Trustees play in regards to fiscal oversight. 

Mrs. Gardner went over reporting deadlines, general responsibilities, the responsibilities 
of the County Superintendent versus the County Board of Education, COE budgets, 
Interim Reports, budget adoptions, AB1200 and the Pacheco Bill. 

5.4 Role of Trustees Concerning Charter Petition/Review 

Devon Lincoln, Partner, Lozano Smith, Attorneys at Law, gave the Board a very 
thorough presentation on the role of the County Board in considering a charter petition 
appeal. 

Mrs. Lincoln reviewed the appeal process, the timelines associated with an appeal, the 
grounds for denying an appeal, actions by the board if the appeal is granted or denied, 
oversight obligations if the appeal is granted and the impacts on a school district that 
originally denied the charter petition. 

6.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Bruce Van Allen (President) adjourned the meeting at 12:38 p.m. 

7



July 19, 2018 Agenda Item #5.0.2 

SUPERINTENDENT’S RECOMMENDATION FOR BOARD ACTION 

SUBJECT: 

Consent Agenda:  Special Board Meeting Minutes, June 14, 2018 

DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM: 

Santa Cruz County Board of Education 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Board Approval 

PREVIOUS STAFF/BOARD ACTION: 

None 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND/OR STATEMENT OF NEED: 

Consent Agenda items are recommended for approval as actions routine in nature and acted upon 
as one motion.  Specific items may be removed for separate consideration. 

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: 

None 

CONTACT PERSON(S): 

Michael Watkins, Superintendent 
Jim Guss, Administrative Aide to the Superintendent 

8



BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Ms. Jane Royer Barr 
Ms. Rose Filicetti 
Ms. Sandra Nichols 
Ms. Sue Roth 
Mr. Dana M. Sales 
Mr. Abel Sanchez 
Mr. Bruce Van Allen

Santa Cruz County Board of Education Special Board Meeting 
Santa Cruz County Office of Education June 14, 2018 
400 Encinal Street Time: 4:00 p.m. 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 Board Room 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM 

Board Present Staff Present 

Bruce Van Allen (President) Faris Sabbah 
Sue Roth (Vice-President) Mary Hart 
Rose Filicetti Mary Anne James 
Sandra Nichols Jim Guss 
Dana Sales 
Abel Sanchez 
Michael Watkins 

Absent 

Jane Barr 

2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Bruce Van Allen (President) led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3.0 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

It was M.S.C (Filicetti/Sanchez) to approve the Agenda. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Van Allen, Sanchez 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Barr 

4.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Superintendent Michael Watkins and Board President Bruce Van Allen recognized Deputy 
Superintendent Dr. Faris Sabbah as Superintendent-Elect for the Santa Cruz County Office of 
Education.  Dr. Sabbah will take office on January 7, 2019. 

9



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 2 
Special Board Meeting 
June 14, 2018 

5.0 CONSENT AGENDA 

5.0.1 Minutes of Board Meeting held on May 17, 2018 (with typographical changes) 

It was M.S.C. (Filicetti/Roth) to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Barr 

6.0 CORRESPONDENCE 

None. 

7.0 PUBLIC HEARINGS, NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

7.1 Public Hearing:  Local Control Accountability Plan - (LCAP) 

The Board held a Public Hearing on the Local Control Accountability Plan 
(LCAP) which was presented by John Armstrong, Director, Alternative 
Education.  The hearing was held to solicit recommendations and comments from 
members of the public regarding the specific actions and expenditures proposed 
by the LCAP of the Santa Cruz County Court and Community Schools. 

7.2 Public Hearing:  Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) 

The Board held a Public Hearing on the Local Control Accountability Plan 
(LCAP) which was presented by Deputy Superintendent Faris Sabbah.  The 
hearing was held to solicit recommendations and comments from members of the 
public regarding the specific actions and expenditures proposed by the LCAP of 
the Santa Cruz County Career Advancement Charter School. 

7.3 Public Hearing:  Santa Cruz County Office of Education 2018-2019 Budget 

The Board held a Public Hearing on the 2018-2019 Santa Cruz County Office of 
Education Budget which was presented by Rebecca Olker, Manager, Internal 
Business Services.  The hearing was held to solicit recommendations and 
comments from members of the public regarding the budget proposed by the 
Santa Cruz County Office of Education. 

8.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Bruce Van Allen (President) adjourned the meeting at 5:28 p.m. 

10



July 19, 2018 Agenda Item #5.0.3 

SUPERINTENDENT’S RECOMMENDATION FOR BOARD ACTION 

SUBJECT: 

Consent Agenda:  Regular Board Meeting Minutes, June 21, 2018 

DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM: 

Santa Cruz County Board of Education 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Board Approval 

PREVIOUS STAFF/BOARD ACTION: 

None 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND/OR STATEMENT OF NEED: 

Consent Agenda items are recommended for approval as actions routine in nature and acted upon 
as one motion.  Specific items may be removed for separate consideration. 

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: 

None 

CONTACT PERSON(S): 

Michael Watkins, Superintendent 
Jim Guss, Administrative Aide to the Superintendent 

11



BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Ms. Jane Royer Barr 
Ms. Rose Filicetti 
Ms. Sandra Nichols 
Ms. Sue Roth 
Mr. Dana M. Sales 
Mr. Abel Sanchez 
Mr. Bruce Van Allen

Santa Cruz County Board of Education Regular Board Meeting 
Santa Cruz County Office of Education June 21, 2018 
400 Encinal Street Time: 4:00 p.m. 
Santa Cruz, CA 95060 Board Room 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND ESTABLISHMENT OF QUORUM 

Board Present Staff Present 

Bruce Van Allen (President) Faris Sabbah 
Sue Roth (Vice-President) Mary Hart 
Jane Barr Mary Anne James 
Rose Filicetti Jim Guss 
Sandra Nichols 
Dana Sales 
Abel Sanchez 
Michael Watkins (Secretary) 

2.0 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Bruce Van Allen (President) led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3.0 APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

It was M.S.C (Filicetti/Sales) to approve the Agenda. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Van Allen, Sanchez 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  None 

4.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Mr. Kevin Sved, CEO, Navigator Schools, came before the Board to officially appeal the denial 
by the Pajaro Valley Unified School District for Navigator Schools to open a charter school in 
Watsonville. 

Kirsten Carr, Andrea Hernandez, Rita Castan, Alba Rivas and Lupita Chacon all spoke in support 
of Navigator Schools 

Jennifer Holm, Ericks Celis, Sean Henry and Sarah Henne all spoke against Navigator Schools. 

12



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 2 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

5.0 CONSENT AGENDA 

5.0.1 Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting held on March 15, 2018 
5.0.2 Routine Budget Revisions 

It was M.S.C. (Filicetti/Barr) to approve the Consent Agenda item 5.0.1. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  None 

5.1 DEFERRED CONSENT ITEMS (if required) 

5.0.2 Routine Budget Revisions 

After a couple of questions from Trustee Barr, it was M.S.C. (Barr/Sales) to approve 
Consent Agenda item 5.0.2. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays:  None 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  None 

6.0 CORRESPONDENCE 

Trustee Van Allen (President) announced that a few Board members received an invitation from 
the Farm Bureau concerning their upcoming annual meeting. 

7.0 RECOGNITIONS 

The Board recognized Ryan Beam from Scotts Valley High School and Eli Gilbert from Santa 
Cruz High School.  These two students tied for first place at the 2018 Santa Cruz County Science 
Fair and competed at the International Science and Engineering Fair in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. 

8.0 REPORTS, DISCUSSIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

8.1 Your Future is Our Business 

The Board received a presentation from Your Future is Our Business’s (YFIOB) 
Executive Director Mary Gaukel-Forster along with two YFIOB interns Malina Long and 
Eric Hernandez.  YFIOB brings schools and businesses together to support students in 
discovering a fulfilling and successful career. 

8.2 Distinguished School Award 

Mary Anne James, Associate Superintendent, Educational Services, reported to the Board 
that Live Oak Elementary school was chosen as a California Distinguished School.  The 
2018 California Distinguished School Program recognized California elementary schools 
that made exceptional gains in implementing academic content and performance standards 
adopted by the State Board of Education. 

13



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 3 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

8.3 Accountability and Differentiated Assistance 

Mary Anne James, Associate Superintendent, Educational Services, gave a presentation 
to the Board regarding the Accountability and Differentiated Assistance Program.  Mrs. 
James explained that Differentiated Assistance means that a district is eligible for 
technical assistance if it “fails to improve pupil achievement across more than one state 
priority for one or more pupil subgroups”.  Four districts in Santa Cruz County fall under 
Differentiated Assistance:  Soquel Unified Elementary School District, Pajaro Valley 
Unified School District, Santa Cruz City School District and San Lorenzo Valley Unified 
School District.  Mrs. James explained the three levels of support available to schools 
through this program:  Support for all LEAs and Schools, Differentiated Assistance and 
Intensive Intervention. 

9.0 PUBLIC HEARINGS, NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

9.1 Adopt Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) 

Following a Public Hearing held on June 14, 2018, the Board was asked to adopt 
the Local Control Accountability Plan for the Santa Cruz County Court and 
Community Schools. 

It was M.S.C (Filicetti/Roth) to approve the LCAP for the Santa Cruz County 
Court and Community Schools. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

9.2 Adopt Local Control Accountability Plan (LCAP) 

Following a Public Hearing held on June 14, 2018, the Board was asked to adopt 
the Local Control Accountability Plan for the Santa Cruz County Career 
Advancement Charter School. 

It was M.S.C (Sales/Filicetti) to approve the LCAP for the Santa Cruz County 
Career Advancement Charter School. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

9.3 Adopt Santa Cruz County Office of Education 2018-2019 Budget 

Following a Public Hearing held on June 14, 2018, the Board was asked to adopt 
the Santa Cruz County Office of Education’s 2018-2019 Budget. 

It was M.S.C (Barr/Filicetti) to approve the Santa Cruz County Office of 
Education’s 2018-2019 Budget. 

14



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 4 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

9.4 Adopt Resolution #18-08, Use of Proposition 30 and Proposition 55 Education 
Protection Act Funds 

The Board was asked to adopt Resolution #18-08, to approve the usage of funds 
made available from Proposition 30 and Proposition 55 for educational 
expenditures within the County Office of Education’s budget. 

It was M.S.C (Sales/Nichols) to approve Resolution #18-08, Use of Proposition 
30 and Proposition 55 Education Protection Act Funds. 

Ayes: Barr, Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: None 

9.5 Public Disclosure:  Tentative Agreement between the Santa Cruz County 
Superintendent of Schools and the Santa Cruz Education Association  

Mary Hart, Deputy Superintendent, Business Services, disclosed to the Board, in accordance 
with Government Code Section 3547.5, that the Santa Cruz County Superintendent of 
Schools and the Santa Cruz Education Association had entered into a tentative agreement for 
three years. 

9.6 Public Disclosure:  Tentative Agreement between the Santa Cruz County 
Superintendent of Schools and the California School Employees Association, Chapter 
484 

Mary Hart, Deputy Superintendent, Business Services, disclosed to the Board, in accordance 
with Government Code Section 3547.5, that the Santa Cruz County Superintendent of 
Schools and the California School Employees Association, Chapter 484, had entered into a 
tentative agreement for two years. 

Trustee Barr departed from the meeting at 5:56 p.m. 

9.7 Approve Consolidated Application 2018-2019 

John Rice, Senior Director, Alternative Education, asked that the Board approve the 
Consolidated Application for 2018-2019. 

It was M.S.C (Filicetti/Roth) to approve the Consolidated Application for 2018-
2019. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: Barr 

15



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 5 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

9.8 Adopt Resolution #18-09, Calling for the November 6, 2018 Election of Trustees of the 
Santa Cruz County Board of Education 

The Board was requested (per the Santa Cruz County Clerk) to adopt Resolution #18-09, 
calling for the November 6, 2018 Election of Trustees of the Santa Cruz County Board of 
Education.  Four Trustee seats are up for election on November 6, 2018 (Trustee Area 1, 
Trustee Area 2, Trustee Area 4 and Trustee Area 7). 

It was M.S.C. (Nichols/Sales) to adopt Resolution #18-09, calling for the November 6, 2018 
Election of Trustees of the Santa Cruz County Board of Education. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: Barr 

9.9 Countywide Plan for Expelled Students 

John Rice, Senior Director, Alternative Education requested that the Board approve the 
Countywide Plan for Expelled Students.  This plan provides educational services to all 
expelled students in the County and is submitted to the State Superintendent of Public 
Instruction per Education Code 48926. 

It was M.S.C. (Filicetti/Roth) to adopt the Countywide Plan for Expelled Students. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: Barr 

9.10 First Reading:  Board Policies (BP) 

The Board was presented with the following three Policies for a first reading and possible 
adoption: 

BP 5145.13 Response to Immigration Enforcement 
BP 3100 Budget Adoption and Revision 
BP 3320 Claims and Actions Against the County Office of Education 

It was M.S.C. (Filicetti/Sanchez) to adopt the three Policies as presented. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: Barr 

16



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 6 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

9.11 Second Reading:  Board Policies (BP) 

The Policy Committee brought back to the Board the following five policies for a second 
reading and possible adoption: 

BP 3270 Sale or Disposal of Books, Equipment and Supplies 
BP 3280 Sale or Lease of District-Owned Real Property 
BP 3460 Financial Reports and Accountability 
BP 3530 Risk Management-Insurance 
BP 3600 Consultants 

It was M.S.C. (Filicetti/Nichols) to adopt the five Board Policies as proposed by the Policy 
Committee. 

Ayes: Filicetti, Nichols, Roth, Sales, Sanchez, Van Allen 
Nays: None 
Abstain: None 
Absent: Barr 

10.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None. 

11.0 SUPERINTENDENT REPORT 

The Superintendent did not have a report ready for this reporting period.  It will be included in the 
July report. 

12.0 TRUSTEE REPORTS 

Trustee Van Allen did not have a report. 

Trustee Roth advised the Board that she attended a recent San Lorenzo Valley Unified School 
District meeting. 

Trustee Nichols reported to the Board that she attended an Alternative Education Graduation. 

Trustee Sales did not have a report. 

Trustee Sanchez stated to the Board that he attended a graduation at Sequoia School and also 
worked during the recent election on June 5, 2018. 

Trustee Filicetti advised the Board that she had a meeting with Cabrillo College President Dr. 
Matt Westein and also a meeting with the newly appointed city manager of Watsonville, Mr. Matt 
Huffaker.  Trustee Filicetti attended the Capitol Advisors May Revise meeting here at the COE 
and attended the final Panetta Lecture Series presentation on “Technology and the American 
Dream – Impact of Artificial Intelligence, Robots and Cyber”.  Trustee Filicetti also attended the 
Board Retreat, the 20th anniversary celebration of Tierra Pacifica Charter School in Live Oak and 
served as a clerk for the primary election on June 5, 2018.  Trustee Filicetti also had meetings 
with Geraldine Brady, Dean of CTE and Workforce Development at Cabrillo College and with 
Cynthia Holmsky, Director, Bright Futures Education Partnership at California State University 
Monterey Bay.  Trustee Filicetti also attended three Alternative Education graduations, attend the 
Special Board meeting on June 14, 2018 and attended the retirement party for Mary Anne James. 

17



Santa Cruz County Board of Education Page 7 
Regular Board Meeting 
June 21, 2018 

13.0 AD HOC COMMITTEE REPORTS/ACTIONS 

None 

14.0 ADDITIONS, IF ANY, TO FUTURE BOARD AGENDA ITEMS 

None. 

15.0 SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS AND COMING EVENTS 

June 28, 2018  Capitol Advisors Budget Perspectives Workshop-Budget Act 
9:00 – 10:30 a.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

July 18, 2018  Senator Bill Monning K-12 Education Focus Group Meeting 
1:00 – 2:30 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

July 19, 2018 Regular Meeting of the County Board of Education 
4:00 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

August 16, 2018 Regular Meeting of the County Board of Education 
4:00 p.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

August 20, 2018 SCCOE Employee Orientation Meeting 
8:00 a.m. 400 Encinal Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060 

16.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Bruce Van Allen (President) adjourned the meeting at 6:32 p.m. 

18



July 19, 2018 Agenda Item #5.0.4 

SUPERINTENDENT’S RECOMMENDATION FOR BOARD ACTION 

SUBJECT: 

Gifts and Donations 

DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM: 

Santa Cruz County Board of Education 

ACTION REQUESTED: 

Accept gifts and donations as follows: 

Program   Donor Value 

Law Day   Jonathan & Jo Ann Allen $30.00 

PREVIOUS STAFF/BOARD ACTION: 

None.  An acknowledgement letter will be sent to the donor following Board Action. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND/OR STATEMENT OF NEED: 

County Board of Education Policy P-3280, requires that all gifts and donations received by 
programs conducted by the County Superintendent of Schools be accepted by the County Board 
of Education. 

FISCAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Gifts/Donations received will be utilized by the programs to which they were donated. 

CONTACT PERSON(S): 

Faris Sabbah, Deputy Superintendent 

19



 One Vision          One Voice 

Early Care, Education and After-School Care 

Master Plan 

Santa Cruz County

2018 - 2023 
20



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Members and Acknowledgements . . . . . . . . .  . . . . .  1 

Mission and Purpose . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2 

Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 

Needs Assessment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4 - 5 

Focus Areas: 

1. Accessibility and Affordability . . . . . . . . . . . .  6 - 9 

2. Quality . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10 - 13 

3. Sustainability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  14 - 17 

Call to Action . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  18 

Endnotes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19 

The Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors and the County 

Superintendent of Schools appoint members of the Childhood 

Advisory Council. 

The Needs Assessment section is developed with support from 

Applied Survey Research. 

21



Co-Chairs 
Larry Drury – Go Kids Inc. 
Barbara Griffin – Campus Kids Connections 

General Membership 
Sara Bella Discovery Preschool 
Rebecca Bogdan     SCCOE School Nurse 
Vicki Boriack First 5 Santa Cruz County 
Yvette Brooks  SCCOE North County - SELPA 
Maria G. Cortez  PVUSD Migrant and Seasonal Head Start 
Irene Freiberg  First 5 Santa Cruz County  
Wilma Gold Pacific Oaks College 
Lorena Gonzalez     Encompass Head Start 
Karen Hamman      PVUSD Child Development Programs 
Elaine Henning     Santa Cruz County Parents’ Association 
Patrice Keet  Santa Cruz County Museum of Discovery 
Leticia Mendoza     YWCA of Watsonville 
Sita Moon Child Development Resource Center 
Rosario Navarro     Central CA Migrant Head Start Program 
Tricia Pastor Cross Cabrillo College 
Alison Pepper  Stanford University, School of Medicine 
Elizabeth Root  UCSC Early Education Services 
Jude Rose Court Appointed Special Advocates 
Hendrika Sheldon Happy Acres Family Child Care 
Trevor Walker  Campbell Union School District  
Martine Watkins     Santa Cruz County Office of Education 
Jane Weed Pomerantz     Positive Discipline Community Resources 
Jerri Winner  Encompass Head Start 
Nicole Young  Optimal Solutions Consulting 

CHILDHOOD ADVISORY COUNCIL MEMBERS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

The Childhood Advisory Council extends gratitude 
to the many partner agencies that contributed to 
the 2018-2023 Early Care, Education and After-
school Master Plan. In its role as the united voice 
for early care, education and after-school 
programs in Santa Cruz County, the needs of 
children and their families have been identified, 
and a plan to address these needs has been 
developed, for the community to support.  

Special acknowledgement is extended to the 
CAC Master Plan Subcommittee: 
Emili Balli 
Vicki Boriack 
Yvette Brooks 
Larry Drury 
Lorena Gonzales  
Barbara Griffin 
Elaine Henning 
Lisa Hindman Holbert 
Mary Anne James 
Leticia Mendoza  
Sita Moon 
Tricia Pastor Cross 
Jude Rose  
Jane Weed Pomerantz 
Jerri Winner 
Nicole Young 

Master Plan Co-Authors: 
Shebreh Kalantari Johnson 
Diane Munoz 
Martine Watkins 

Master Plan Graphics Design: 
Paula Mahoney/Legacy Communications 

Data and Graphic Support: 
Applied Survey Research:  
Casey Conway 
Michelle Luedtke 

Photos Courtesy:  
Tricia Pastor Cross 
Lisa Hindman Holbert 
Shebreh Kalantari Johnson 
Paula Mahoney 
Diane Munoz 
Jude Rose 
Martine Watkins 

 1 

22



CHILDHOOD ADVISORY COUNCIL MISSION AND PURPOSE 

 

 

 

 

 

Our mission is to present a unified voice for an early care and education 

system that meets the needs of all children and families in Santa Cruz 

County. 

Our vision is that every child in Santa Cruz County has access to quality 

affordable early care, education and after-school programs. 

Our strategies for achieving this vision are deeply rooted in decades of 

neuroscience and economic research that prove that rich experiences in 

a child’s earliest years ensure healthy brain development, prepare 

children for school, and can help close the education achievement gap.  

Appointed by the County Board of Supervisors and the County Superintendent of Schools, the Local Planning 

Council’s (LPC) purpose, is to ensure that there is relevant input on federal and state resources apportioned to 

counties. The Santa Cruz County Childhood Advisory Council (CAC) members are comprised of parents, community 

members, educators and early care and education professionals. The Council convenes to assess trends in early 

care, education and after-school needs, set local priorities for the use of state and federal child care funds, 

advocate on behalf of children and the early care education profession, and influence policy decisions regarding 

quality early care, education and after-school programs. 

 2 

“These are all of our children; we will all profit by, or pay for, whatever they become.”  - James Baldwin 

The Santa Cruz County Childhood Advisory Council (CAC) is a clear and 

consistent voice for the early care and education of our children (including birth-

13). Our ongoing message is designed to shape public policy so that the needs of 

young children come first. Our role as a council is to make the case that providing 

safe and nurturing early learning environments for children from birth through 

age 13, is critical to the overall health of our community. Based on solid data, as 

well as our collective experience as early care educators, we want the public and 

policy-makers at all levels to know what we know - that investing in the early 

care and education of our children yields life-long benefits. 

23



Every child deserves to be happy, healthy, and have equal opportunities to thrive and reach their full potential. 

Yet not all children are provided the chance to build a strong foundation for lifelong health and well-being. Lack of 

access to affordable high-quality early care and education for many of our families, in particular low-and middle-

income families, means that our children are entering the school system with significant readiness gaps, 

contributing to achievement gaps.  

Systemic inequities limit children’s optimal development and learning. Scientists and economists agree that 

investing early produces the greatest benefits to children, families and society, and improves life outcomes related 

to health, education, employment, and social behaviors. Investing early will positively impact public safety and 

community well-being. What is often socially fair and just, is also economically efficient.  

The Center for the Study of Child Care Employment’s report, Transforming the Financing of Early Care and 

Education, acknowledges that the current system is “neither sustainable nor adequate to provide the quality of care 

and learning that children and families need — a shortfall that further perpetuates and drives inequality.”1  

Our current cultural norm of placing a child’s early development and after-school care as solely the concern of 

individual families is antiquated.   

There is an urgent need to shift to a new cultural norm of collective responsibility.  

This five-year master plan builds on previous plans and outlines the goals, objectives  

and action strategies focused around accessible and affordable care, quality care,  

and sustainable systems and workforce. These strategies will generate lasting results 

to move us towards wellbeing for all children and a prosperous community. 

The Childhood Advisory Council is willing to disrupt the status quo and engage in 

open discourse to achieve these results.  

We invite each of you to join us in advancing our future generations - the future of humankind.

“Educating the mind without educating the heart is no education at all.” -  Aristotle 

INTRODUCTION 

 3 

24

https://www.nap.edu/catalog/24984/transforming-the-financing-of-early-care-and-education
https://www.nap.edu/catalog/24984/transforming-the-financing-of-early-care-and-education


Needs Assessment
Access and Affordability, Quality, and Sustainability 

29,935
CHILDREN IN  

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY

= 1,000 children under age 10

or about

1 in 5 children

5,987
OF THOSE CHILDREN 
ARE IN POVERTY  
AND RELY ON  
INCOME ASSISTANCE 

5-9 years 14,986

3-4 years 6,099

<3 years 8,850

County Profile2 

The cost of living for low and 
middle-income families is 
very high.

Family households earning the county median 
income need to spend 41% of their income on 
rent to afford a median cost 2-Bed apartment3 

At 30%, Santa Cruz County has the highest child poverty rate in California 
when adjusted for the cost of living and safety-net program benefits.4 

ADJUSTED STATEWIDE POVERTY RATE: 23%

Most 3rd Graders are not meeting state standards for English/
Language Arts and Math.5 

All Economically  
Disadvantaged

36% 40%
21% 25%

47% 51%

Not Economically 
Disadvantaged

% Met English/Language Arts Standard % Met Mathematics StandardEconomically disadvantaged 
students are half as likely as non-
disadvantaged students to meet 
the standards.

Focus Area 1: Child Care Affordability and Access
Licensed Child Care 
Centers in Santa Cruz 
County cost $150 
more per month than 
the state average.6

In 2015, Santa Cruz County exceeded statewide average annual enrollment 
costs for both Infant/Toddlers and Preschoolers at licensed child care centers 
by nearly $2,000.

Santa Cruz County California

Infant/
Toddler

$15,045 $13,227

Preschool 
Age

$10,950 $9,106

4

Multiracial 4%

White 38%

Hispanic/Latino 54%

American Indian/
Alaska Native <1%

African American/
Black <1%

Asian American 2%

Native Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander <1%

ETHNICITY

25



Focus Area 2: Quality

Nearly half of all 
Santa Cruz County 
children under age 
5 qualify for state 
subsidized child care.7  

HOW SUBSIDIES AFFECT CHILD CARE COSTS FOR LOW-INCOME FAMILIES, 
BY CHILD CARE AND FAMILY BUDGETS8 

Housing Preschooler Infant/toddler Family FeeAll other family needs

10
%

46
%

19
%

23
%

13
%

46
%

28
%

11
%

14
%

Median Family Income
$84,414 Annual Income

Income Eligible Family 
Without Subsidy

$52,080 Annual Income

Income Eligible Family  
With Subsidy

$52,080 Annual Income

spent on child care:  42% spent on child care: 10% spent on child care:  25% 

There are not 
enough child care 
spaces available  
for children in 
working families.9 

Many eligible school-
age children are 
not participating in 
subsidized after-school 
programs.10 

Children 
in working 

families 
(0-5)

9,963

Child care 
spaces 

(0-5)
6,977

30% Unmet Need

Eligible 
school-age 

children

School-age 
children 
enrolled

11,108

5,519

50% Unmet Need

The quality standard for child care must be set high.

46
%

44
%

Focus Area 3: Sustainability
Greater investments in the child care workforce are necessary 

to sustain an accessible and high-quality child care system.
The child care field struggles to attract and retain highly qualified professionals. Preschool teachers and other 
child care professionals earn significantly less than other educators, some little more than minimum wage. The 
high cost of living in Santa Cruz County means our community faces even greater challenges in developing and 
compensating a highly trained and sustainable early child care workforce.

Additional information can be found in the Santa Cruz County Early Care and Education Needs Assessment 2016-2021, found online at: 
http://www.childcareplanning.org/documents/santa_cruz_county_early_care_education_needs_assessment_2016-2021.pdf

Preschool 
Teachers

$28,570

Kindergarten 
Teachers

$51,640

45% earnings gap

Elementary 
Teachers

$54,890

48% earnings gap
NATIONAL MEDIAN ANNUAL WAGE12 AVERAGE NATION-WIDE EARNINGS13 

Mail order 
clerks, tree 
trimmers, 

pest control 
workers

Preschool 
TeachersChild care workers

Hair-
dressers, 
janitors

A typical child care worker in California spends 51% of their earnings to put their own child in infant care. 
Nationwide, the families of child care workers are more than twice as likely to live in poverty  

as other workers’ families (15% and 7%, respectively).14 

5

Research has shown that children who participate in high quality early learning and care programs are more likely 
to succeed in school and acquire stable employment, and are less likely to need remedial education or to commit 
crimes.11   

Santa Cruz County is implementing a quality measurement 
system, Quality Counts Santa Cruz County, for child care 
providers, and has set goals for increasing participation in 
that system by 2020.

Since 2015, participation in the quality improvement 
system has grown 20% (from 60 to 72 providers), and many 
providers have already improved their quality ratings.

% in Quality Counts (2017) June 2020 Goal

40% 48%Preschool Child 
Care Center

68% 82%Infant Center

17%10%Family Child 
Care Home

26



Focus Area 1: 

Accessibility and Affordability 

 6 

“If we expect our children to thrive at our colleges and universities, and succeed in our economy once they  

graduate – first we must make quality, affordable early childhood education accessible to all.” – Kirsten Gillibrand 

27



Opportunities for Accessibility and Affordability: 

The Childhood Advisory Council provides data and expertise to inform local policymakers, so they can address the need 
for more adequate funding for early care and education. Santa Cruz County will impact the accessibility and affordability 
of early care, education and after-school programs by developing and expanding local policy initiatives that overcome 
federal and state barriers.  

The Childhood Advisory Council will also collaborate with stakeholders to develop a centralized system and continuum 
of care so that families can access up-to-date, current early and after-school care available to them, as well as other 
supportive resources. Each strategy will be grounded in the Childhood Advisory Council’s principle of equity – 
recognizing all children deserve to happy, healthy, and provided opportunities to reach their full potential. 

Understanding the Challenges of Accessibility and Affordability: 

The social divide is expanding and economic difficulties impact families across the full spectrum of the population. U.S. 
residents work more hours, the middle class is shrinking, social mobility is declining, and more children are born into 
poverty. In fact, in Santa Cruz County, nearly one in five children under the age of five is living in extreme poverty, and 
only 50% of all families report being able to afford basic living expenses. 

The cost of child care is often more expensive than rent. This matters. In 2017, the Demographia International Housing 
Affordability released a staggering report, registering Santa Cruz County as the fourth most expensive places to live in 
the world!  

Decreased household incomes coupled with the high cost of living in Santa Cruz County, continues to negatively impact 
the ability of working and low-income earning families to access quality early care and after-school programs. 
Additionally, Santa Cruz County does not have enough facility space to accommodate the number of children who need 
early and after-school care. These compounding factors significantly impact the health and well-being of our children, 
families and community. 

FOCUS AREA 1: ACCESSIBILITY AND AFFORDABILITY 

 

16 

Our Commitment to Accessibility and Affordability: 

A core value of the Santa Cruz Childhood Advisory Council is that all 
children and families have access to quality, affordable early care, 
education and after-school programs that reflect their socioeconomic, 
cultural and geographic needs. 

17 

 7 

28



* Childhood Advisory Council
* Community Partners
* Early Care and Education 

Partners 
* Monterey County
* San Benito County
* Santa Cruz County 
* Santa Clara County 
*   Santa Cruz County Office of
     Education 

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Community Partners  
* Early Care Education
  Partners 
* Local Partners in trades:  

developers, community
  banks, and volunteers 
* Untraditional Partners to

support facility locations:
  senior centers, private  

schools, churches 

 
 

 
 
 

Goal Statement 1: 

1c. Develop a 
centralized system to 
improve coordination, 
communication and 
linkages that will 
provide a continuum of 
early care, education 
and after-school 
support for all families.

 

 

 
 

* Bay Area Coordinators
Association

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Community Partners
* Santa Cruz County Human

Services Department
* Santa Cruz County Office of

Education
* Thrive by Three Advisory

Council

Families of all socioeconomic levels have access to integrated, equitable care, 
education and after-school opportunities for children birth to 13. 

▪ Produce a system of care single point
of entry service model/framework and
a centralized eligibility list, so that
families can access current early and
after-school care availability and other
resources.

FOCUS AREA 1:  ACCESSIBILITY AND AFFORDABILITY - IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

EQUITABLE 
ACCESS TO 
AFFORDABLE 
EARLY CARE,  
EDUCATION 
AND AFTER- 
SCHOOL 
PROGRAMS 

Leads and Partners Action Strategies 

 8 

Community 
Value 

1a. Advance a local 
policy to surmount 
state imposed 
regulatory barriers to 
county’s achievement 
of desired outcomes for 
early care, education 
and after-school 
programs. 

Objective 

▪ Pursue the expansion of diverse facility
funding support for local and
state programs, including strategies for
partnering with businesses to support
facilities’ needs.

▪ Advocate for facility funding, including
policies imposing developer fees on new
development to go to licensed early and
after-school care facilities and programs.

▪ Develop and implement individualized
child care subsidy pilot plans, starting
with State Assembly Bill 300 - Child
Care and Development services:
individualized county child care subsidy
plans.

▪ Create a countywide subsidy funding
matrix of all state and federal programs.

1b. Increase early care, 
education and after-
school facilities and 
family child care homes 
that are safe, quality 
learning environments. 

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Community Partners
* Early Care, Education and

After-School Partners
* Monterey County
* San Benito County
* Santa Clara County
* Santa Cruz County Office of
     Education 

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Child Development Resource
  Center 
*  Community Partners
* Early Care, Education and

After-School Partners 
*  Local Partners in trades:
  developers, community   

banks, and volunteers 
*  Untraditional Partners to

support facility locations:
senior centers, private
schools, churches

29



                  

► Decrease the percentage of income families dedicate to
early care, education and after-school programs aiming to
make it less than 10% of family income. (Source: California Child

Care Portfolio)

 

► Decrease the number of children in the county experiencing

shortage of space available. (Source: Childhood Advisory Council

Needs Assessment)

► Increase the number of spaces in early and after-school

care centers including family-based programs. (Source:

Childhood Advisory Council Needs Assessment)

► Increase the number of families aware of their
qualifying circumstances and access to available early and
after-school care. (Sources: Child Development Resource and Referral

Directory; Childhood Advisory Council Records; California Childcare
Portfolio)

“Without the Cabrillo Children’s Center    
I wouldn’t be able to attend school and finish 
my education. Having a safe, and nurturing 
place for my child while I attend school is a 
godsend for families like ours who are trying 
to get a good education in this really tough 
economy.” 

   -  Cabrillo College Student 

INCREASING AVAILABILITY 

 INCREASING AFFORDABILITY 

FOCUS AREA 1:  ACCESSIBILITY AND AFFORDABILITY - INDICATORS OF SUCCESS 

  INCREASING UTILIZATION 

 9 

“The COE’s trainings that I’ve attended this year are so useful in my every day 
work with children. The information is really helping me feel better prepared 
for classroom challenges that have been hard for me to manage. Since these 
trainings, I’ve been able to share the tools and information with families, so 
we can work together to help their children learn and feel more successful in 
school.”  

       - Preschool Teacher 

30



 

 

Focus Area 2: 

Quality 

“Every day, in a 100 small ways, our children ask, ‘Do you hear me? Do you see me? Do I matter?’ 

 Their behavior often reflects our response.” - L.R. Knost 

 

                               10 

31



FOCUS AREA 2:  QUALITY 

Understanding the Challenges of Quality: 

Families have too few early and after-school care options, coupled often with a limited understanding of what quality 
care is. Most agree in a general sense that children must get their basic needs met while in care - they are fed, safe, and 
clean. Although some validated tools are available, determining providers’ abilities in attending to a child’s emotional and 
developmental needs, as well as engagement in age-appropriate learning activities, remains difficult to define.  

The California Department of Education, Early Education and Support Division and the National Association for Education 
of Young Children are leading organizations in the field - confirming common characteristics of quality care that translate 
into markedly better developmental results for children.  

These organizations recognize quality programs as: 

▪ Having appropriate child/adult ratios,
▪ Having positive relationships amongst caregivers, teachers, children, and the community,
▪ Fostering meaningful family engagement,
▪ Having educational curriculum and materials to meet all children’s developmental and cultural learning styles,
▪ Implementing good management and effective leadership,
▪ Utilizing assessments to monitor children’s learning and developmental progress,
▪ Building staff competence through mentoring, trainings and support.

The county has many high-quality programs. However, high-quality early and after-school education remains out of reach 
for many low-and middle-income families. These families often do not meet the eligibility requirement for high-quality 
subsidized programs and therefore struggle to access affordable quality care and education. 

Opportunities for Quality: 

Research shows that quality early care and education programs help prepare children to succeed in kindergarten and 
beyond. Long-term studies demonstrate that children who attend high-quality early learning programs have advanced 
social skills and self-regulation, finer math and reading skills, and are more likely to complete high school and go on to 
college. Ninety percent of a child’s brain develops in the first 5 years. It is important that young children have the best 
possible environment for learning and development. 

In response, Santa Cruz County has built a local Quality Rating and Improvement System (QRIS) as one strategy to assess 
and improve the quality of care among all participating providers, called Quality Counts Santa Cruz County. Quality Counts 
supports, rates and rewards early care and education in Santa Cruz County. 

Our Commitment to Quality:

A common value families share is a desire to see their children happy, 
healthy, and thriving – developing to reach their fullest potential.  
Our responsibility, and our collective best interest, is to commit to 
making that possible for everybody’s children by providing quality 
early care, education and after-school programs. The Childhood 
Advisory Council is committed to supporting quality programs that are 
safe and engaging learning environments for children. 

 11 

32



 

 

Goal Statement 2: 

Community 
Value 

FOCUS AREA 2: QUALITY - IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

EVERY CHILD 
IN SANTA 
CRUZ COUNTY 
IS THRIVING 

* Cabrillo College Early
Childhood Education Program

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Child Development Resource

Center
* Early Care, Education and

After-School Partners
* Family Child Care Providers
* First 5 Santa Cruz County
* Santa Cruz County Mental

Health, and Human Services
Departments

* Santa Cruz County Office of
Education

* Santa Cruz County Quality
Counts
Consortium

* Trauma Informed System  -
Santa Cruz County

2b. Increase 
kindergarten 
readiness 
countywide. 

Objective 

 

 

2a. Increase 
the number 
of providers 
engaged in 
quality 
improvement 
systems. 

Action Strategies 

 

Every child thrives socially, emotionally, and academically because they 
receive quality early care, education and/or after-school programs 

throughout their childhood.

▪ Identify and develop strategies to ensure continuity
of learning as children transition from early care to
K-12 systems.

▪ Partner with school districts to implement a universal
kindergarten readiness assessment tool.

▪ Connect all early care and education providers to the
K-12 system to increase communication and
coordination between the two.

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Early Care, Education and

After-School Partners
* First 5 Santa Cruz County
* Santa Cruz County Office of

Education and School Districts
* Santa Cruz County Quality

Counts Consortium

▪ Childhood Advisory Council will provide quality
professional development opportunities, extend
professional development services to nonsubsidized
providers, and explore the development of a
countywide training calendar.

▪ Increase participation in Quality Counts Santa Cruz
County, the local Quality Rating and Improvement
System (QRIS).

▪ Develop a public awareness campaign for parents
on the importance of quality standards.

▪ Continue to participate in countywide efforts in
developing trauma informed organizations, services,
and policies.

▪ Partner with early care, education, and after- school
programs’ stakeholders to identify the diverse
federal, state, and local evidence-based tools that
measure quality programs to be implemented as a
measurement of quality in our community.

Leads and Partners 

 12 

33



FOCUS AREA 2: QUALITY - INDICATORS OF SUCCESS 

 
 

► Increase the number of providers participating in quality improvement frameworks including, but
not limited to, Quality Counts Santa Cruz County, the local Quality Rating and Improvement System
(QRIS). (Source: Quality Counts annual reports and other sources explored through the

Childhood Advisory Council)

► Increase quality for early care and education sites participating in Quality Counts, as shown by
improved ratings. (Source: Quality Counts Santa Cruz County Annual reports)

► Improve the well-being of incoming kindergartners through assessment of basic health indicators
and social emotional indicators to be monitored and assessed through school district Local Control
Accountability Plans (LCAP) process. (Sources: Childhood Advisory Council Records and District Local Control

Accountability Plans)

► Increase the number of children ready for kindergarten. (Source: Universal Kindergarten Readiness

Assessment tool to be developed)

    INCREASING QUALITY 

SUSTAINABILITY

“As Delaine Eastin says, ‘our budgets are moral documents and they reflect our 

values.’ Our community spends less than one half of one percent on children 0-
3. When you look at the science of brain development, that is not adequate.
Zach Friend and I started the Thrive by Three program because we have to 
start investing early, and we have to start investing right. We need to grow 
this program and other programs that help reduce trauma and stress and offer 
support to moms and their babies so that we give them an equal opportunity 
in life. With your support and with your pressure and with you asking us to do 
more, we will be able to do more. We need your help.” 

 -  Santa Cruz County Supervisor, Ryan Coonerty 

 13 

“As our cities and county governments begin to make child well-being a high 
priority in their budget processes, utilizing the Childhood Advisory Council’s 
Master Plan for Early Care and Education as a compass, and bringing early 
educators into the conversation, would lay the groundwork for giving every 
child a stronger start in school. It’s not too late.” 

 - Michael C. Watkins – Santa Cruz County Superintendent of Schools 

34



Focus Area 3: 

Sustainability 

“It’s not a ‘nice to have’ – it’s a ‘must have’. It’s time we stop treating child care as a side issue,  
or a women’s issue, and treat it like the national economic priority that it is for all of us.”  – President Obama 

 3 

14 

35



Understanding the Challenges of Sustainability: 

Funding sources for early care, education and after-school programs are fragmented. Varying revenue sources and 
eligibility constraints result in families bearing the burden of substantially covering the costs of care. The need for policy 
makers to take action and invest in building an infrastructure of early care education and after-school care is imperative. 

Nationally, according to the US Census Bureau, 51% percent of mothers with infants are in the labor force, yet there 
remains inadequate supply of high-quality care for infants and toddlers, particularly for families struggling economically to 
live in our community.  In Santa Cruz County, in 2017-2018, 75% of infants and toddlers in low-income working families 
qualified for full-time subsidized child care but were not enrolled.   Although this may partially reflect parent choice, it 
more likely reflects a family’s difficulty in accessing quality programs. Moreover, inadequate paid parental leave policies 
drive families to heavily rely on early and after-school care in their communities. 

Children have little to no political power and families don’t have the time, resources, and tools to assume the lobbying 
power to drive the early care and education policy agenda. Many policymakers and business leaders are unaccustomed to 
the societal relevance and impact of quality early care, education and after-school programs. Experts agree that investing 
in high-quality early childhood development yields high annual rates of return and produces long-term societal rewards.  
According to the work of James Heckman, Nobel Laureate, and many other economists, investing in high-quality early 
childhood development programs for disadvantaged children can deliver a 13% annual return on investment, improving 
personal and social gains.  Although there is extensive information substantiating the value of investing in early care and 
education, public policy has yet to align with the science and economics of investing in early childhood. 

FOCUS AREA 3: SUSTAINABILITY 

Our Commitment to Sustainability: 

It’s time to be bold and embrace our values, our commitment to equity and to assume our collective responsibility 
toward the health and well-being of all children in Santa Cruz County. The Santa Cruz County Childhood Advisory Council 
will unite policymakers, business leaders, and educators to shape private and public policy that invests in early care, 
education and after-school programs. 

Opportunities for Sustainability: 

To reach quality, accessible and affordable care, education and after-school programs that meet the 
needs of all families, and afford Santa Cruz County’s youngest children the opportunity for the best 
possible start in life, will take longstanding dedication, political will and leadership. A unified system 
of public and private resources will be essential to the creation of a sustainable infrastructure of 
care. 

In order to provide sustainable quality care, education and after-school programs, communities need 
a qualified workforce that is well-compensated, and supported through ongoing professional 
development opportunities. Sustainability requires creating a strong early care, education and after-
school programs workforce pathway that attracts qualified providers entering the field. Sustainability 
further requires Santa Cruz County to address the wage gaps providers experience working and 
staying in the field long-term. 

 

18

 15 

19   

20 

36



* Central Coast Early Childhood 
Policy Advocacy Network 

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Early Care, Education and After-

School Partners
* Local, state, and federal decision 

makers
* Business Partners
* Funders –  Government,

Foundation, and Corporations

3b. Increase the  
number of early care, 
education and after-
school program 
professionals. 

* Business Partners
* Central Coast Early Childhood 

Policy Advocacy Network 
* Childhood Advisory Council
* Local and State elected officials 
* State and local advocacy

organizations 
* Human Services Department – 

Workforce Development
* Workforce Investment Board 

* Central Coast Early Childhood 
Policy Advocacy Network

* Childhood Advisory Council
* Child Development Resource

Center
* Santa Cruz County School Districts
* Cabrillo College
* Human Services Department

Workforce Development
* Workforce Investment Board 

FOCUS AREA 3: SUSTAINABILTY – IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

Goal Statement 3: 

3a. Increase public 
and private 
investment in early 
care, education and 
after-school 
programs. 

Community 
 Value 

Objective 

 16 

There will be community and political commitment for sustained investment 
in high quality early care, education and after-school programs. 

Action Strategies 

SANTA CRUZ 
COUNTY 
VALUES 
CHILDREN’S 
EARLY 
DEVELOPMENT    
AS 
FUNDAMENTAL 
TO OUR 
SHARED 
PROSPERITY 

Leads and Partners 

▪ Work with school districts to include early care,
education and after-school services within their
local control accountability plans.

▪ Work with school districts, community college,
and vocational training programs to develop 
and/or increase early care, education and after- 

    school Career Pathway Programs. 

▪ Participate and engage in appropriate workforce
development efforts to address shortage of early
care, education and after-school program
professionals.

▪ Support emerging family providers with licensing 
permit and workforce registry.

▪ Build community awareness and political will in 
support of investing in early care, education and
after-school programs through policy advocacy,
advisory participation, community forums,
marketing campaigns, and grassroots organizing.

 
 

▪ Solicit private investments such as employer-funded 
child care.

▪ Advance a ‘Worthy Wage’ Campaign (use
Workforce Study by Center for the Study of Child 
Care Employment-to be published in 2019).

▪ Develop a method to quantify wage disparities
within the early care, education and after-school
labor market.

▪ Generate more early care, education and after- 
    school programs’ revenue resources through 
    strategies such as ballot measure, local children’s   
    funds, developer fees and support, and government 
    set asides. 

▪ Develop economic impact report for Santa Cruz
County early care, education and after-school
programs.

3c. Increase the 
number of early 
care, education and 
after-school 
professional 
providers earning a 
living wage. 

37



“What’s really important about these conversations that are 
going on in our community is that it raises awareness about the 
importance of this issue of taking better care of our children. I 
left the Raising of America Film series that we had in October 
really inspired. I realized, yes, there is something we can do even 
if we have limited dollars. We can’t support all the child care 
needs in our county, but we could do something to help early 
childhood professionals get the word out and educate the rest of 
the public that doesn’t really understand the complexity of this 
field, so they can advocate to our public officials.”  

       - Christina Cuevas 
 Santa Cruz County Community Foundation 

FOCUS AREA 3: SUSTAINABILITY – INDICATORS OF SUCCESS 

► Increase the wages for early care, education and after-school professionals.
(Source: To be pursued by Childhood Advisory Council)

► Increase the number of early care, education and after-school professionals in the field.
(Source: To be pursued by Childhood Advisory Council)

► Increase the retention of early care, education and after-school professionals.
(Source: To be pursued by Childhood Advisory Council)

► Increase the investment in early care, education and after-school through ballot measures,
government and/or children’s fund, government set-asides.
(Source: Childhood Advisory Council Records)

INCREASED SUSTAINABILITY 

17 

“Education is about social justice.” 

    - Faris Sabbah,SC County Superintendent- Elect 

38



 

  

 
 

  
 

 
           

 ALL Get Involved in the Childhood Advisory Council 
by contacting:  

Diane Munoz at 831-466-5822  
or dmunoz@santacruzcoe.org  

As the Santa Cruz County Childhood
Advisory Council, we are committed to 

enrolling each of you to support the 
implementation of this five-year strategic 

We all must play a key role to shift from our current inadequate structure to a sustainable system that 
ensures that ALL of our children are thriving and that our community is prosperous.  

As the Santa Cruz County Childhood Advisory 
Council, we invite you to join us  

in advancing change for our future 
generation and for the future of humankind. 

  COMMUNITY  Stay informed! Work collaboratively with those in the early care, education and after-school field,  
   PROGRAMS      non-profit community, education, and government. Contribute to being a united voice for early  

  care, education and after-school programs. 
early care, education and after-school programs.

 HERE IS WHAT YOU CAN DO AS: 

CALL TO ACTION 

“Live a life of bold and courageous action inspired by powerful dreams.” – Jonathan Lockwood Huie 

 EDUCATIONAL     Align! Develop career pathways that support the growth and development of this field by working 
 INSTITUTIONS      with partners such as the Workforce Investment Board and Cabrillo College. Provide opportunities 

  for professional development of providers in the early care, education and after-school field and  
  ways for them to connect with kindergarten teachers for successful child and family transitions into 
  the school system. 

18 

 FUNDERS  Join us! Support the plan by providing the resources needed for implementation strategies     
 that generate systems changes, such as support for the development of a universal kindergarten 
 readiness tool and an updated economic impact report. Prioritize funding early care and  
 education and involve providers in conversations. 

 PARENTS &  Be civically active! Educate the community on the needs and challenges by sharing your story with 
 COMMUNITY    employers, community members, private sector leaders and most importantly, elected officials.    
 MEMBERS       Participate in any way that fits with your life, career, and capacity. Demand elected officials to  

 respond to your needs and continually advocate for children focused policies and vote for elected  
 officials that share your values. 

 POLICY   Be bold! Use data driven policy decision-making. Hold yourself and colleagues accountable to your 
  MAKERS  policy choices and inspire others to choose policies that support kids. Invest, Invest, Invest! Make  

  tough tradeoffs and allocate scarce resources to early care, education and after-school programs. 

 PROVIDERS,  Inspire! Actively seek an action strategy from this Master Plan that you want to work toward and 
 PRACTITIONERS  lead or join with others to work on it. Mentor and support the next generation of early care, 
 & TEACHERS   education and after-school professionals. 
& TEACHERS Education and after-school professionals.

 BUSINESS &  Invest! Government cannot and will not be able to do it alone. Provide funding and resources,  
 PRIVATE  include facility space for on-site child care, paid parental leave and adopt family friendly workplace 
 SECTOR   policies. Support the workforce through resource linkages and provider discounts. 

39



 

 

 

1     https://nap.edu/catalog/24984/transforming-the-financing-of-early-care-and-education 

2     U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). 2012-2016 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. Note: Seventeen percent (17%) of families have 

       Incomes below the Federal Poverty Line while 22% of children under 18 rely on income assistance. 

3     Rentcafe.com. (2018, May 2). Median Rent Data. Retrieved from: https://www.rentcafe.com/average-rent-market-trends/us/ca/santa-cruz- 

       county/santa-cruz. U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). Median income for households with children under 18. American Community Survey 5-Year  

       Estimates. Note: Graphic adopted from Apartment by elmars from the Noun Project. 

4     Public Policy Institute of California. (2017, October). Child Poverty in California. Retrieved from: http://www.ppic.org/publication/child- 

       poverty-in-california/ Note: This rate is based on the California Poverty Measure (CPM), developed by the California Public Policy Institute 

  and Stanford University. The CPM adjust the federal poverty rate of each county to account for the cost of living and the benefits of safety 

   net programs including CalWORKS, CalFresh, and the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC). 

5     California Department of Education. (2017). Smarter Balanced Assessment Test Results. Note: Math graphic adopted from Math by Jevgeni 

       Striganov and English/Language Arts graphic from Stanislav Levin, both from the Noun Project. 

6     Santa Cruz County Needs Assessment, June 2016-2021. (2016). Note: Preschooler graphic adopted from Toddler by Gan Khoon Lay and 

   building blocks graphic from Preschool by Made by Made, both from the Noun Project. 

7     Santa Cruz County Needs Assessment, June 2016-2021. (2016). Note: 45% of children under 5 (6,938 children) qualify for state-subsidized 

       child care. 

8     California Child Care Resource and Referral Network. (2017). Portfolio. Retrieved from https://www.rrnetwork.org/2017_portfolio 

9     Santa Cruz County Needs Assessment, June 2016-2021. (2016). Note: Total after-school spaces are not known. 

10   Childhood Advisory Council. (2018). 2018 Child Care Expansion Priorities Report. 

11   Ansari, Arya, Planta, & Robert C. (2018, April 5). Variation in the long-term benefits of child care: The role of classroom quality in elementary 

  school. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/doiLanding?doi=10.1037/dev0000513; Bassok, D. Gibbs, C.R. & Latham, S. (2018), April 17). 

  Preschool and Children’s Outcomes in Elementary School: Have Patterns Changed Nationwide Between 1998 and 2010? Retrieved from  

 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/cdev.13067 

12   First 5 Santa Cruz County. (2017, December). 

13   U.S. Department of Education. (2016, June 14). Fact Sheet: Troubling Pay Gap for Early Childhood Teachers. Retrieved from: 

       https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-sheet-troubling-pay-gap-early-childhood-teachers#footnote-1 

14   U.S. Department of Education. (2016, June 14). Fact Sheet: Troubling Pay Gap for Early Childhood Teachers. Retrieved from: 

       https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-sheet-troubling-pay-gap-early-childhood-teachers#footnote-1 

15   Economic Policy Institute. (2016, April). The Cost of Child Care in California. Retrieved from: https://www.epi.org/child-care-costs-in-the- 

        united-states/#CA 

16   Children Now 2016-17 California County Scorecard (http://pub.childrennow.org/2016/county/santa-cruz/) 

17   Demographia: Demographics Development Impacts Market Research, Urban Policy. (n.d.) Retrieved April 12, 2018 from 

 http://www.demographia.com 

18   U.S. Census Bureau, “Table B13012: Women 16-50 who had a birth in the past 12 months by marital status and labor force status,” American 
        Community Survey 

19   Childhood Advisory Council. (2018). 2018 Child Care Expansion Priorities Report. 

20   Heckman, J. 2014. Invest in Early Childhood Development: Reduce Deficits, Strengthen the Economy. www.heckmanequation.org 

ENDNOTES 

 19 

40

https://www.rentcafe.com/average-rent-market-trends/us/ca/santa-cruz-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20county
https://www.rentcafe.com/average-rent-market-trends/us/ca/santa-cruz-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20county
http://www.ppic.org/publication/child-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20poverty-in-california/%20Note
http://www.ppic.org/publication/child-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20poverty-in-california/%20Note
https://www.rrnetwork.org/2017
http://psycnet/
https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-sheet-troubling-pay-gap-early-childhood-teachers#footnote-1
https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/fact-sheet-troubling-pay-gap-early-childhood-teachers#footnote-1
https://www.epi.org/child-care-costs-in-the-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20united
https://www.epi.org/child-care-costs-in-the-%20%20%20%20%20%20%20%20united
http://pub.childrennow.org/2016/county/santa-cruz/
http://www.demographia.com/


GROWING A STRONGER COMMUNITY – 

ONE CHILD AT A TIME 

Raising Awareness, Building Bridges, Informing Public Policy 

CHILDHOOD ADVISORY COUNCIL OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY 

41



PAJARO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

Staff Report and Findings of Fact 
Watsonville Prep School 

Charter Petition 

Presented: 
Board of Trustees Meeting 

May 23, 2018 

42



Page 1 of 15 

1. INTRODUCTION

The Charter Schools Act of 1992 permits school districts to grant charter petitions that 
authorize the operation of charter schools within their geographic boundaries.  (Ed. Code, § 
47600, et seq.) 

A proponent may seek to establish a charter school within Pajaro Valley Unified School 
District (“District” or “PVUSD”) by submitting a Petition to the District Governing Board 
(“Board”).  The Board must grant a charter “if it is satisfied that granting the charter is 
consistent with sound educational practice.”  (Ed. Code, § 47605(b).)  However, the Board 
may deny a petition for establishment of a charter school if it finds that the particular 
petition fails to meet enumerated statutory criteria, and the Board adopts written findings in 
support of its decision to deny the charter.   

If authorized, charter schools “are part of the public school system,” but “operate 
independently from the existing school district structure” subject to the oversight of the 
Board.  (Ed. Code § 47615(a)(1) and 47601.)  The Courts have made clear that charter 
schools are constitutionally permissible because they exist under the oversight of elected 
officials of public agencies, including the PVUSD Board.  (Wilson v. State Board of Education 
(1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1125 [holding that charter schools are legal by virtue of the fact that 
they are under the oversight of chartering authorities within the public school system 
defined by Article IX, Section 6]; aff’d in Anderson Union High School District v. Shasta 
Secondary Home School (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 262 [referred hereinafter as “Anderson”) 
Thus, it is the District’s constitutional responsibility to ensure, prior to approving a charter 
school and during its term, that the charter school is sufficiently transparent and open to 
the level of oversight necessary to satisfy constitutional criteria.   

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

On March 28, 2018, the Pajaro Valley Unified School District (“District”) received a charter 
petition (“Petition”) from Navigator Schools, Inc., a California nonprofit public benefit 
corporation (“Petitioners”). The Petitioners propose the creation of Watsonville Prep School 
(“Charter School or WPS”), a charter school to serve 180 students in grade K through 2 in 
Year 1 (2019-20), and expanding to serve a total of 420 students in grades K through 8 by 
Year 2023-2024. (Petition, p. 12-13.)1 

At the beginning of the 2011-12 school year, Petitioners opened Gilroy Prep School, which 
served 476 students in grades K through 7 in the 2016-2017 school year.  (CDE School 
Dashboard.) A second Navigator school, Hollister Prep School, opened in August 2013, 
which served approximately 361 students in grades K through 5 in the 2016-2017 school 
year.  (CDE School Dashboard.) Petitioners point to Gilroy Prep School’s “track record of 
achievement” as an indicator of their ability to successfully implement a similar program 
within Pajaro Valley Unified School District (Petition, p. 8.) However, in evaluating the 
suitability of the program proposed in the Petition, the District’s Board of Trustees (“Board”) 
are cautioned to bear in mind that there are significant differences between the 
communities served by existing Navigator Schools and the PVUSD community. 

Notably, at the public hearing, held on April 25, 2018, the Petition received strong criticism 
from both the public and local educators. Several public comments were made expressing 
concern over Petitioner’s ability to provide an educational program not already provided 

1 The Petition also indicates that the Charter will not offer transitional kindergarten unless 
“the charter authorizer so requires.” (Petition, p. 12.) 

43



Page 2 of 15 

within the District, the focus of efforts being placed outside of the school district, the use of 
staffing without representation rights and the current poor state of District facilities. 
Moreover, as described in detail below, District staff has identified a number of significant 
deficiencies in the Petition, including but not limited to: (1) deficiencies in the Charter 
School’s proposed educational program; (2) deficiencies in its plans for educating English 
Language Learners, students with special needs, migrant students and foster students; and 
(3) omissions from the Charter School’s operating budget and financial projections.  

Based upon the Petition, its supporting documents, comments made at the public hearing 
and District staff’s analysis of the Petition, the Board will decide whether to grant or deny 
the Petition at its May 23, 2018 meeting. If the District grants the Petition, it will exist and 
operate as proposed under the Board’s oversight.  Under Education Code section 47605, 
subdivision (j)(1), if the District denies the Petition, the Petitioners may appeal the denial to 
the Santa Cruz County Board of Education (“SCCBOE”).  If the SCCBOE grants the Petition, 
the SCCBOE becomes the supervisory agency over the Charter School. If the SCCBOE 
denies the Petition, then Petitioners may appeal to the State Board of Education (“SBE”). 
(Ed. Code, § 47605, subd. (j)(1).) 

A team of District staff members and legal counsel reviewed the Petition and provided input 
on this recommendation to the Superintendent relevant to their area of expertise.  The 
following individuals comprised the staff review team (“Staff Team”): 

• Dr. Michelle Rodriguez, Superintendent
• Joe Dominguez, Chief Business Officer
• Helen Bellonzi, Director, Finance
• Heather Gorman, Director, SELPA/Special Education
• Dr. Jean Gottlob, Director, Equity and English Language Learners
• Luis Medina, Director, Migrant Education
• Aracelli Mendez, Coordinator, Mathematics
• Katie Powell, Director, Transportation
• Pam Shanks, Director, Human Resources
• Suzanne Smith, Director, Student Services
• Frances Whitney, Coordinator, Accountability and Assessment

Additional support in legal review was provided by Dannis Woliver Kelley. 

3. STANDARDS FOR REVIEW OF THE PETITION

Education Code section 47605, subdivision (b), sets forth the following guidelines for 
governing boards to consider in reviewing charter petitions: 

Ø The chartering authority shall be guided by the intent of the Legislature that 
charter schools are, and should become, an integral part of the California 
educational system and that establishment of charter schools should be 
encouraged. 

Ø A school district governing board shall grant a charter for the operation of a 
school under this part if it is satisfied that granting the charter is consistent with 
sound educational practice. 

Ø The governing board of the school district shall not deny a petition for the 
establishment of a charter school unless it makes written factual findings, specific 

44



Page 3 of 15 

to the particular petition, setting forth specific facts to support one or more of the 
following findings: 

(1) The charter school presents an unsound educational program for the 
pupils to be enrolled in the charter school. 

(2) The petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement 
the program set forth in the petition. 

(3) The petition does not contain the number of signatures required by 
statute. 

(4) The petition does not contain an affirmation of each of the conditions 
required by statute. 

(5) The petition does not contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions 
of the required elements of a charter petition. 

(6) The petition does not contain a declaration of whether or not the 
charter school shall be deemed the exclusive public employer of the 
employees of the charter school for purposes of Chapter 10.7 
(commencing with Section 3540) of Division 4 of Title 1 of the 
Government Code.  

In addition to the above considerations, the review and analysis of the Petition was also 
guided by the regulations promulgated by the SBE for the SBE’s evaluation of charter 
petitions (Cal. Code Regs, tit. 5, §11967.5 et seq. (“Regulations”). 

4. STAFF RECOMMENDATION - DENIAL

The options before the Board with regard to the Petition are as follows: (1) Approve the 
Petition; (2) Approve the Petition subject to conditions; or (3) Deny the Petition.  

Based upon a comprehensive review and analysis of the Petition by the Staff Team and legal 
counsel, DENIAL of the Petition is recommended.   

The recommendation of denial is based on the following conclusions: 

• The Petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program
presented in the Petition [See Findings, Section 5(a)].

• The Petition does not contain the required number of signatures [See Findings,
Section 5(b)].

• The Petition fails to provide a reasonably comprehensive description of all required
elements of a charter petition [See Findings, Section 5(c)].

• The charter school presents an unsound educational program for the pupils to be
enrolled in the charter school.  [See Findings, Section 5(d)].

45



Page 4 of 15 

FINDINGS IN SUPPORT OF DENIAL 

(a) The Petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to implement the program 
described in the Petition.  (Ed. Code, § 47605, subd. (b)(2).) 

The Staff Team recommends that the Petition be denied on the grounds that the 
Petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program described in 
the Petition.  (See Ed. Code, § 47605, subd. (b)(2); Cal. Code. Regs., tit. 5, § 
11967.5.1(c).)  For purposes of implementing Education Code section 47605(b)(2), the 
State Board of Education considers the following factors, among others, in determining 
whether charter petitioners are “demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the 
program:” 

(1) If the petitioners have a past history of involvement in charter schools or other 
education agencies (public or private), the history is one that the SBE regards as 
unsuccessful, e.g., the petitioners have been associated with a charter school of 
which the charter has been revoked or a private school that has ceased operation for 
reasons within the petitioners' control. 

. . . 

(3) The petitioners have presented an unrealistic financial and operational plan for 
the proposed charter school.  (Cal. Code. Regs., tit. 5, § 11967.5.1(c).)   

The Staff Team’s findings are based on the following factual determinations supporting this 
finding: 

(i) The Petitioners have presented an unrealistic financial and operational 
plan for the proposed charter school. 

Petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to implement the program described in the Petition 
because the Petition’s proposed financial and operational plan is unrealistic.   

• Donation Revenue: The Five Year Projection (“Budget”), contained in Appendix X of
the Petition, identifies a $150,000 donation to WPS in Year 0.  However, the Budget
notes do not indicate whether this “donation” has been made or if WPS simply has a
goal to raise this substantial amount.  Therefore, it is unclear whether WPS would
meet its projected beginning balance for Year 1 given the uncertainty of obtaining
$150,000 in donations.

• Revolving Loan:  The attachments to the Budget include reference to a $250,000
revolving loan that would be paid in relatively equal amounts over a five year period.
However, the repayment of this revolving loan is omitted from the Budget.
Therefore, the expenses to be incurred by WPS is understated by approximately
$50,000 in Years 1 – 5.

• Start-Up Costs: There is no PCSGP or other Implementation Grant identified in the
Budget.  Thus, the District is left to speculate whether the “donation” and “revolving
loan” will serve as the start-up funding for the school.  The Budget is silent as to how
the Charter School will address start-up costs and whether the funds on hand will be
sufficient to get the school open and program off the ground.

46



Page 5 of 15 

• Textbooks: The amounts allocated in the Budget for textbooks (ranging from $3,500
in Year 1 to $9,000 in Year 5) is woefully inadequate to support the instruction of
hundreds of children.  Nor do the Petition or the Budget notes clarify how the Charter
School will implement the curriculum with nominal textbooks supplies.

• Facilities Rent: The Budget does not include any expense amount for rental of
facilities.  While the Charter School indicates that it will either seek facilities from the
District (Petition, p. 132.), or seek housing in an alternate location (4/24 PVUSD
Public Hearing), the Budget fails to account for the costs associated with housing
WPS.  The District Staff Team has indicated that housing WPS will be extremely
challenging in light of overwhelming demands on District space. Nor is the District
required to use General Funds to pay for facilities to house WPS.  Therefore, to the
extent the Charter School intends to rent a private space to house its program as
indicated during the April 25 public hearing, the Charter School is responsible for
payment of rent. The failure of the Budget to include a line item for this significant
expense renders the Budget inadequate to meet the needs of the proposed
program.2

• Transportation: PVUSD services 20,400 students and approximately 17% (3500) of
regular education students utilize District funded and operated home-to-school
transportation each day on 32 routes. The Special Education population is 3003
students and approximately 12% (350 students) of these students utilize home-to-
school transportation each day on 25 routes.  In addition, transportation services are
provided to District students in a variety of programs, including No Child Left Behind,
Students in Transition, International Academy, as well as 24 after school program
routes. The District’s Transportation Department currently employs 61 drivers and
conducts approximately 2000 field trips annually for sports, clubs, curricular, after
school, and enrichment programs.  The Petition fails to acknowledge the PVUSD
community's heavy reliance on District-provided transportation services to access
schools and related programs. Likewise, the Budget fails to account for any expenses
related to busing or transportation services for prospective WPS students.

• Professional Development:  The Petition contains several references to “coaching”
and other professional development and training opportunities for WPS staff and
teachers.  (Petition, p. 41-43 and 64-67.)  Appendix E consists of a Coaching Rubric
that would also be utilized for development purposes. The Budget reflects annual
expenditures for professional development, ranging from $24,500 in Year 1 to
$54,000 in Year 5. However, given the lack of information as to how these funds will
be expended for “professional development,” the Staff Team is unable to determine
whether these amounts are sufficient to adequately train, coach and develop
teachers and staff in the manner described in the Petition and its accompanying
documents.

• District Oversight Fees:  The amounts identified as “3% oversight fees” for the
District appear to exclude, without explanation, certain revenue.  For example, in

2 Petitioners also state that they will operate within the “Watsonville city limits.” (Petition, p. 
132.)  However, as described more fully below, the Charter School must provide a 
preference to students who reside within the boundaries of the school district in which it 
operates.  PVUSD operates in areas outside of the city of Watsonville.  Therefore, 
Petitioners’ target population of students within the City of Watsonville is inconsistent with 
the District’s attendance boundaries, and serves to exclude students who do not reside 
within Watsonville.   

47



Page 6 of 15 

Year 5, the total revenues of WPS are projected to be $5,456,893. However, the 3% 
oversight fee reflected in the Budget for Year 5 is $135,199, over $28,000 short of 
the applicable 3% ($163,707.)  These inaccuracies reflect a lack of careful 
formulation of budget estimates. 

• CMO Management Fee: The Budget includes an inordinately high management fee,
totaling 14% of WPS’s revenues annually.  The Budget is silent as to what services
the CMO will provide to justify an expenditure of this magnitude.  This is particularly
concerning given the fact the Budget includes separate line items for many
administrative services that a CMO might typically perform, such as payroll services,
planning and reproduction, staff and student recruiting, marketing materials, etc.
Similarly, there are distinct line item expenses for administrative professional.
Therefore, the District is left to speculate as to what the CMO fees cover and whether
this is an appropriate expenditure of public funds.

• Special Education Contract Services:  The Budget also identifies a significant
expenditure for Special Education Contract Services.  Yet, there is no indication in
the notes and assumptions regarding what these services entail.  Therefore, the
District Staff Team is unable to ascertain whether this figure is sufficient or
reasonable for the projected services.

• Teacher-Student Ratio: The Budget notes and assumptions suggest that the teacher-
to-student ratio is in the range of 21:1 – 22:1.  However, this ratio reflects an
internal inconsistency in that the chart that sets forth the number of teacher per
grade, per year, provides that there will be 2 teacher per grade. This suggests that
the true teacher-to-student ratio is 30:1, a ratio that far exceeds the general
standard for grades K-3 (24:1).  Petitioners likewise conceded at the April 25 public
hearing that the actual teacher-to-student ratio is in fact 30:1, again in contrast to
what is set forth in the Petition itself.  As such, the salaries allocated for teaching
staff are inadequate to meet the Charter School’s alleged ratio of 22:1 or the
generally accepted standard of 24:1.

• Custodial/Maintenance and Food Service Staff: The Budget assumptions indicate that
WPS is planning to employ 1 FTE in Year 1 for custodial, maintenance and food
services.  The FTE would expand to 2 by Year 5.  The District Staff Team believes
this modest FTE is insufficient to meet WPS’s custodial, maintenance and food
services needs for 180 – 410 students.  As such, the Budget again fails to address
critical services that support implementation of the proposed program.

• ADA Percentage: The Charter School identifies slightly conflicting, yet important,
ADA percentage projections.  In the Budget assumptions, WPS states that the ADA
will be 96% of its enrollment.  By contrast, in the Petition, the Charter School
indicates that it will achieve 95% ADA. (Petition, at p. 13.)  The ADA projections are
critical to formulating the projected Budget.  A single percent can make a big
difference in terms of overall funding entitlement, cash flow and reserves.

• Middle School Program Funding: Although Petitioners do not anticipate expanding to
grades 7 and 8 until presumably Years 6 and 7, if the Petition is approved and later
renewed, the Petition presented here contemplates a full K-8 program.  There is no
indication in the Budget of how Petitioners would on-board and implement a full
middle school program (as discussed more fully below).  The Budget and the
corresponding notes and assumptions, is silent on this critical element of the
proposed educational program.  As such, the District Staff Team is unable to assess,

48



Page 7 of 15 

even preliminarily, whether the proposed Budget is suitable to support a program for 
middle school students that is unique from that of elementary students. 

(ii) The Petitioners past history of operating other charter schools is not 
analogous to the proposed charter school. 

The Petition boasts that Navigator Schools, the CMO that would manage WPS, has a “proven 
track record of success” because it has developed "an educational model that can be easily 
replicable and personalized to meet the needs of the community being served.” (Petition, p. 
8.)  However, this assertion is premised on Navigator Schools located in Gilroy and Hollister, 
communities that differ from that of Pajaro Valley.  The Petition relies heavily on data and 
information gleaned from this other locations, while failing to specify current and relevant 
information regarding the student population of PVUSD.  The District staff Team does not 
believe that educational models are “cookie cutter” and can simply be replicated from 
community to community.   

As is set forth elsewhere in these Findings, the Petition fails to take into consideration the 
needs of students in PVUSD, including English Language Learners, migrant students, and 
foster youth and transportation demands.  These omissions reflect a lack of understanding 
of the unique population of the PVUSD community.  Nor does the program seek to reflect 
the racial, ethnic and socio-economic diversity that exists within the District.  Instead, 
Petitioners would ask that the Board simply trust that a program that “works” in other 
communities would work for PVUSD students.  However, as noted by Petitioners 
representatives at the April 25 public hearing, the poster schools – Gilroy Prep and Hollister 
Prep – have not been without their challenges.  Indeed, Petitioners concede that mistakes 
were made in their growth plans that cause significant issues not only for the schools, but 
necessarily to the families and students who attended those schools.  Based on the District 
Staff Team’s review, the Petition fails to adequately evaluate how the educational model it 
proposes will meet the needs and address the challenges of the PVUSD community.  

(b) The Petition does not contain the required number of signatures. (Ed. 
Code § 47605, subd. (b)(3).) 

Education Code section 47605(a)(1) requires a charter petition to include the signatures of: 
(1) parents or guardians of half the number of students that are estimated to enroll in the 
charter school in the first year (Ed. Code §47605(a)(1)(A), or (2) half the number of 
teachers that will teach at the school in the first year (Ed. Code §47605 (a)(1)(B). 
Petitioners, inaccurately citing the requirement of Education Code section 47605(a)(1)(A) 
[which outlines signature requirements for students], claim that the signatures contained in 
Appendix A are from “seven meaningfully interested teachers, more than half of the seven 
teachers needed in year one of the charter.” (Petition, p. 3.)  However, Petitioners’ assertion 
is fundamentally flawed in that six (6) of the seven (7) teachers that signed the Petition are 
teachers at Navigator’s two other charter schools, including 4 teachers from Gilroy Prep (M. 
Burton, J. Hill, T. Hill and N. Molchan).  Therefore, the Staff Team cannot reconcile how six 
teachers who work at other Navigator schools are “meaningfully interested” in teaching at 
WPS, or how their displacement from their existing schools will impact those school 
communities.  Instead, the Staff Team finds that these signatures do not meet the 
requirements of Education Code section 47605(a)(1)(B).  

49



Page 8 of 15 

(c) The Petition does not contain a reasonably comprehensive description 
of the required elements of a charter Petition.  (Ed. Code, § 47605, 
subd. (b)(5).) 

(i) The Petition fails to include a reasonably comprehensive description of 
the Education Program because it fails to adequately describe its plan 
for specific subgroups of students. 

(1) English Language Learners 

The Petition does not contain a reasonably comprehensive description of its English Learner 
(“EL”) Program.  Charter Petitions are required to “indicate[] how the charter school will 
meet the needs of … English learners.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5, § 19675.1(f)(1)(G).)   While 
the Petition states the “charter school will meet all applicable legal requirements for English 
learners,” the Staff Team identified the following concerns regarding the plan for EL 
education outlined in the Petition: which render the description inadequate: 

• The “Scope and Sequence Greenlighting” spreadsheets, identified on page 34 of the
Petition, are used to support mastery of standards in ELA, Social Studies, Math, and
Science. However, there is no mention of scope and sequence for ELD.

• The “Comprehensive standards-based assessment plan” stated on page 40 of the
Petition addresses reading fluency, reading comprehension, CCSS based on a year-
long instructional map, math facts fluency, and several technology based
assessments, including: Lexia, ST Math, STAR Reading and STAR Math.” However,
again, ELD is not included in the assessment plan.

• It is unclear whether Petitioners understand the appropriate ELPAC window.  It is
listed as July 31-Oct. 31 on page 50 of the Petition, which is incorrect. Yet, it is listed
correctly on page 51 as July 1 – June 30.

• The Home Language Survey, page 50, does not state how it will be determined that
the home language is other than English.

• In the discussion of the “Selection Process of Site Council Members,” page 83,
Petitioners have added a “Chairperson” to the school staff side, which would bring
the school staff total to 6, while the parent total remains 5. Each side should have
equal representation.

• On page 84 of the Petition, Petitioners state that “Watsonville Prep will strive to have
the ELAC and SSC overlap to the extent possible under the law.”  ELAC can be
delegated to SSC. However, this is a specific process that is not outlined in the
Petition. There is no mechanism for the ELAC and SSC to “overlap”. These are two
different groups with two distinct purposes. ELAC can be delegated, separate or
adjacent in relation to SSC, but not overlapped.

• On page 98, the Outreach and Recruitment Plan mentions providing promotional
materials in English and Spanish. However, there is no mention of sending notices or
communications to parents in English and Spanish.

• On page 267 of the Petition, the State-wide assessments list CELDT.  However, the
appropriate assessment should be ELPAC for 2018-19.

50



Page 9 of 15 

• On page 418, the curriculum overviews are provided for ELA, Math, Science/Social
Studies and P.E. There is no curriculum overview for ELD.

• The educational technology listed on page 419 are for Math, Language Arts and
Science/Social Studies.  Again, there is no educational technology listed for ELD.

• On page 429, the general iPad use policy states that: “Sites not in English, unless
required for class” are off limits. This is in direct contrast to assets-oriented and
needs-responsive schools that have programs that value and build upon the cultural
and linguistic assets students bring to their education in safe and affirming school
climates (CA EL Roadmap).

(2) Migrant students 

The Petition does not contain a reasonably comprehensive description of the educational 
program for migrant students.  In fact, upon review of the Petition, there are only 2 
references to the term “migrant,” one of page 44 and the other on page 258 both in relation 
to the El Dorado IEP form.  The Petition fails to acknowledge that 11 % of the PVUSD 
student population classifies as Migrant. In particular, the Staff Team identified the following 
deficiencies in the Petition:  

• The Petition is silent as to how WPS will serve the migrant student/family population.

• In the Staff Team’s experience, at any given time of the year, parents move out of
the district looking for work. As a result, students might be out of school for weeks
and months. The Petition is silent as to whether these migrant students will be
permitted back at WPS (i.e., Buena Vista Camp Students who are expected to miss
4-5 months of school).

• The Petition also lacks any mention of the social-economic status of the Migrant
population. Thus, there is no assurance that the Charter School population will be a
true reflection of the PVUSD student population.

• The Petition also states that there were a number of consultations/meetings with a
number of stakeholders that included Pre-k Programs and Parent Leadership groups.
However, it does not appear on the face of the Petition that any such meetings or
consultations were held with Migrant PAC or with Migrant Pre-K programs.

• There is no mention in the Petition regarding English Proficient Parents or Language
Minority Parents (two main components under the Evaluation Guidance). Therefore,
it was unclear how the Charter School will comply with this requirement under Equal
Opportunity in Admissions.

(3) Mathematics 

The Petition does not contain a reasonably comprehensive description of a sound 
mathematics curriculum.  In particular, the Staff Team notes the following deficiencies: 

• Standards for Mathematical Practice:  The National Council for Teachers of
Mathematics describes the Standards for Mathematical Practice (SMP) as “the heart
and soul of the Common Core State Standards for Mathematics” (CCSSM). The SMP

51



Page 10 of 15 

describe student behaviors in mathematics, ensure an understanding of math, focus 
on developing reasoning and building mathematical communication, and lay the 
foundation to empower students to develop habits of mind where they use math and 
think mathematically. Teaching the CCSSM in isolation will not adequately prepare 
students to graduate college and career ready; the SMP must be taught in tandem 
with CCSSM. The description of the instructional program in the Petition lacks the 
integration of the SMP.  

• Teaching Methodologies:

o The instructional strategies mentioned in the Petition do not align with the
CCSSM and students will not be adequately prepared in developing 21st

Century skills. The “I do, we do, you do” method (Petition, p. 36) is an
obsolete methodology and does not align with the expectations of CCSS and
21st Century skills. In order for students to be 21st Century problem-solvers,
they need to engage in regular inquiry cycles, work collaboratively,
communicate effectively and engage in academic conversations, such as
Number/Math Talks. In addition, there is no mention of how the math
curriculum supports two of the three major shifts of CCSSM, coherence and
rigor. With coherence, students must experience mathematics as a coherent
body of knowledge made up of interconnected concepts where learning
experiences are carefully connected across the grades. The CCSSM rigor shifts
calls for students to develop conceptual understanding, procedural skills and
fluency, and application with equal intensity. The instructional strategies
described do not support conceptual understanding as they are heavily
focused on procedural skills and fluency only.

o The Whole Brain Teaching (WBT) description (Petition, p. 37) lacks an
explanation of how this applies to mathematics instruction. The mirror
strategy prevents students from being innovative mathematicians. The SMP 3
calls for students to construct viable arguments and critique the reasoning of
others. The mirror strategy hinders students to have this opportunity. Once
again, the SMP are not taken into consideration when identifying and
describing teaching methodologies.

o The math manipulatives and visual modeling (Petition, p. 39) description is
not specific about which manipulatives are used to support developing the
foundation for conceptual understanding of key standards. Visual modeling is
described as students creating “pictorial models of mathematics problems on
a daily basis,” which is not in alignment with expectations of the CCSSM. The
SMP 4 calls for students to model with mathematics, which is more than
pictorial representations. Students are to use multiple representations
(narrative, graph, table and/or algebraic expressions) to model any given
mathematics problem.

• Mathematics Assessments: The instructional and assessment program lack a
description of the types of mathematics questions that will be included in the
assessments. Specifically, the Depth of Knowledge levels are not mentioned
(Petition, p. 40). A well-balanced assessment must include questions at the four
different Depth of Knowledge levels, and students should understand the grading
criteria and receive timely feedback to improve their learning.

52



Page 11 of 15 

• Re-teaching the Standards: The instructional program in the Petition describes the
use of “re-teaching time” where teachers are expected to provide additional
instruction to students who have not mastered standards. With the demands of the
CCSSM, re-teaching does not suffice. Analysis of student work is necessary to
identify common misconceptions and prepare re-engagement opportunities. Re-
engagement is using student work for the purpose of uncovering misconceptions,
providing feedback on student thinking, and helping students to go deeper into the
mathematics. Students have the opportunity to reflect on their own learning while
make connections between mathematical ideas. There is a focus on metacognitive
development as student analyze other student work in the search for possible
mathematical misconceptions (see www.svmimac.org, or
www.illustrativemathematics.org) . There is uncertainty as to how well the
Petitioners understand the changing pedagogy required with the implementation of
the CCSSM and the SMP.

• Preparation for Integrated Mathematics 1 at High School: The PVUSD Integrated
Mathematics pathways is in second year implementation, and with this, a newly 
adopted curriculum. Given the above review, students of the proposed Charter 
School will not be prepared to be successful in the transition to Integrated 
Mathematics 1.   

(4) Special Education 

The Petition does not contain a reasonably comprehensive description of the special 
education program. Petitioners state on page 11 that the Charter School will operate a full 
inclusion model of education.  However, the Staff Team identified the following deficiencies: 

• In evaluating the staffing in regards to special education, it does not appear that the
Charter School can meet the demands of a special education population similar to
that of the District. PVUSD offers the full continuum of services for students,
including services for our most severe students. The District has services for all 13
categories of disabilities. A multi-disciplinary team, which is not reflected in the
Petition, is needed to provide comprehensive testing of students who may require an
IEP.  Neither the Budget, nor the Petition, provide sufficient description or
information as to how the Charter School will meet these obligations.

• The Petition references the use of MTSS.  PVUSD is moving toward a District-wide
MTSS model for all its schools. In this model, the District will be adding additional
support for students that are non-responders in tier 1 or tier 2. In this way, the
District is supporting curriculum, not supplanting it. As outlined in the Petition, the
Charter School will be supplanting core curriculum in order to level students, rather
than adding to their curriculum.  This is a fundamental flaw.

• The Petition does not appear to provide for enough specialized staff to handle certain
special education processes, such as a Manifest.  This deficiency could lead to lack
appropriate educational services for special education students.

• It is unclear how services during suspensions will be addressed. Where will students
go for a “change of placement” while they are awaiting a hearing?  This lack of clarity
renders the description inadequate.

53



Page 12 of 15 

• There is no clear statement in the Petition that Charter School may not move forward
with a student expulsion if there is a request for assessment/504, or if the student is
in the process of being assessed.

(5) Middle School Students 

The Petition fails to provide a comprehensive description of how it will implement its middle 
school program.  As noted above, the Budget, notes and assumptions, do not provide any 
data regarding the fiscal impact of on-boarding a more comprehensive middle school 
program.  It is unclear what specialized teachers will be required to implement this aspect 
of the program.  Nor does the Petition discuss the unique challenges that face the middle 
school population.  Although the Charter School presumably will not add grades 7 and 8 for 
several years, the Petition does in fact seek a charter for grades K-8.  Therefore, the lack of 
information and operational plan for these grade spans also renders the program description 
incomplete.     

(ii) The Petition does not provide a reasonably comprehensive description 
of the governance structure of the charter school including the process 
to be followed to ensure parent involvement. 

(1) Failure to Adequately Describe its Current Operations 

The Petition fails to adequately describe the complex organizational structure of Navigator 
Charter Schools.  The Petition is required to demonstrate that “the organizational and 
technical designs of the governance structure reflect a seriousness of purpose.”  (Cal. Code 
Regs., § 11967.5.1(f)(4)(B).)  The Petition states that the Navigator Board will, among 
other things, “hold the Chief Executive Officer accountable for the academic and fiscal 
responsibility of Watsonville Prep School.”  (Petition, Element 4.) However, the Petition does 
not provide specifics as to what role, if any, the CEO of Navigator will play at Watsonville 
Prep, especially given the fact that the CEO presumably oversees multiple schools.  With 
such a disconnect between the day-to-day operations of the Charter School and the 
presence of the CEO, it is unclear how this structure provides for meaningful governance. 

Similarly, Petitioners state that “The Board may delegate the management of the 
corporation’s activities to any person(s), management company, or committees provided 
that the activities and affairs of the corporation shall be managed and all corporate powers 
shall be exercised under the ultimate direction of the Board.”  Such broad delegation rights 
do not ensure consistency and continuity in governance.  Nor does it promote true 
stakeholder engagement if management of Navigator’s activities can be delegated at any 
time.   

(2) Conflicts of Interest 

The Petition provides, “The Board has adopted a Conflict of Interest Code which complies 
with the Political Reform Act, and Corporations Code Conflicts of Interest rules.”  The Staff 
Team disagrees with this representation. Specifically, there are no assurances in the 
Petition, Bylaws, or Conflict of Interest Policy that the charter school and its board will 
comply with the provisions of Government Code section 1090, or common law conflicts of 
interest.  While the charter school’s proposed structure may be permissible pursuant to the 
rules governing non-profit public benefit corporations, charter schools are public entities, 
part of the public school system, and operate on public funds.  Accordingly, the Petition 
must adhere to Government Code section 1090, and common law principles of conflict of 
interest. Unlike the Political Reform Act, which allows interested Board members to recuse 

54



Page 13 of 15 

themselves, Government Code section 1090 bars a public agency governing board from 
entering into a contract in which any member has a financial interest that does not meet a 
recognized exception.  

(3) Lack of Parental Involvement in Governance 

The Petition is required to “show the process to be followed by the charter school to ensure 
parental involvement.”  (Cal. Code Regs., § 11967.5.1(f)(4)(B)(2).)    The Petition does not 
provide a reasonably comprehensive description of how parents will be meaningfully 
involved in governance of WPS, and where it does describe mechanisms of parental 
involvement, the Petition is clear that parents will not be significantly involved.  Specifically, 
the Petition states that “The [Navigator] Board shall include representatives and members 
of the community, including one (1) parent representative from Gilroy Prep School, and one 
(1) parent representative from Hollister Prep School (Foundational Schools).” (Petition, p. 
80.)  In addition, “meeting times and locations are planned so it is convenient for parents 
and community members to attend.” (Petition, p. 82.) Yet, the Petition also states that the 
board will meet “in a convenient location for both charter schools.”   (Petition, p. 79.)  “Both 
schools” for this purpose presumably refers to Gilroy Prep and Hollister Prep, excluding 
Watsonville as a potential location. 

(iii) The Petition does not provide a reasonably comprehensive description 
of the health and safety procedures the Charter School will utilize. 

The Petition fails to provide a reasonably compressive description of the Charter School’s 
Health and Safety policies and procedures.  The Staff Team identified the following 
deficiencies:  

• The Petition, at page 85, states, “All non-certificated and certificated staff shall be
mandated child abuse reporters and shall follow all applicable reporting laws.”
However, charter schools have a responsibility beyond ensuring their employees
follow policies and procedures.  AB 1432/Education Code section 44691 requires
charter schools to “provide annual training … to their employees and persons
working on their behalf who are mandated reporters.”  The CDE provides an online
module for such training or, alternatively, the school could provide the training itself
or hire an outside consultant.  This law is not addressed in the proposal, and is
particularly problematic in light of the alleged target population.

• The Emergency Operations Plan does not meet the standards set by the County
Grand Jury.  The Charter School must articulate a plan that uses the Standardized
Emergency Management Systems (SEMS) as detailed in the California Emergency
Services Act Section 8607 and the supporting California Code of Regulations.

• The Comprehensive School Safety Plan is inadequate.

• The Petition’s proposed Drill schedules does not include a clear plan for evacuations
(i.e., meeting places are not identified in the materials provided).

• The Petition does not include a clear plan in terms of Fire Extinguisher maintenance
and safety, i.e., monthly checks and annual recharging.

55



Page 14 of 15 

(iv) The Petition does not provide a reasonably comprehensive description 
of legally permissible admissions policies. 

Petitioners state that admissions preference will be given to those living within the City of 
Watsonville city limits, despite the fact the PVUSD serves students in other areas such as 
Monterey County and Aptos.  First and foremost, this purported admissions preference is 
illegal in that Education Code Section 47605(d) specifically states that “Preference shall be 
extended to pupils currently attending the charter school and pupils who reside in the school 
district.”  There a preference limited to the City of Watsonville expressly excludes students 
that reside within the District, but outside the Watsonville city limits, in violation of the 
Charter Schools Act.   

(i) The Petition does not provide a reasonably comprehensive description 
of the suspension and discipline procedures the Charter School will 
utilize. 

The proposed suspension and expulsion policies and procedures lack specificity and other 
critical elements, including: 

• In the description of the Discipline: Non-Discretionary Expellable Offenses: 48915
(C), the Petition address the possession of a firearm (1) and explosives (5), but does
not mention the other three (3) mandatory expellable offenses - brandishing a knife
(2), selling a controlled substance (3) and sexual battery or assault (4)

• In the description of the suspension process, there is no indication of interventions
before the suspension process begins, such as Restorative Justice, PBIS, counseling,
and or positive conferencing with parent, student, teacher and/or administration.

• The description of the expulsion process fails to mention a Student Discipline Review
(SDR) meeting in which a hearing can be stipulated/waived.  Such a process offers
students the ability to get back in school sooner, instead of waiting for the 10 days
for a hearing and then board approval. Students can be out of school for 4-6 weeks
without the option to have a SDR.

• The Rehabilitation Plans for students lack clarity.  Although the Petition states that
students “may” re-apply after they have completed the requirements for expulsion,
the Petition is unclear as to how the application will be reviewed and finally
determined.

• The Petition lacked any evidence of or discussion regarding a positive school climate
with tiered support systems in place under the discipline section, including enhanced
staff development on these issues or alternatives to out of school suspensions.

• The Petition does not contain a comprehensive bullying policy or bullying prevention
methods, such as student meetings, monitoring school-sponsored networks, parent
education, special programs, and/or reporting systems.

(d) The Petition presents an unsound education program.  (Ed. Code, § 
47605, subd. (b)(1).) 

Based on the totality of the program presented in the Petition, the Staff Team recommends 
that the Petition be denied on the grounds that the Petition presents an unsound education 
program, and hereby incorporates all of the findings in this Report as support for this 

56



Page 15 of 15 

finding.  (See Ed. Code, § 47605, subd. (b)(1); Cal. Code. Regs., tit. 5, § 11967.5.1(b).) 
Staff Adopts the Language of Section 5, Subsection (A) and (D), as part of this finding. 

5. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Petition, as submitted, suggests that the Petitioners are 
demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program, fails to include all of the 
signatures required by law, fails to provide a reasonably comprehensive description of 
several essential charter elements, and fails to present a sound educational program.  
Accordingly, denial of the Petition is recommended by the Board adopting this Report as 
the written factual findings required to support its denial of the Petition, as described.   

57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



BP 0420.4 

CHARTER SCHOOL AUTHORIZATION 

It is the objective of the County Board of Education (CBE) that teachers, parents, pupils and 
community members may petition the CBE to approve a charter school, and that the CBE shall 
review such petitions in accordance with the letter and spirit of the law.  This policy shall also 
pertain, as applicable, to petitions denied by the Governing Board of a school district and 
subsequently submitted to the Santa Cruz County Office of Education (SCCOE). 

The CBE encourages SCCOE administrators to work cooperatively with parents, teachers, 
students, community members, and principals in their efforts to design Charter Schools to 
improve student learning. 

These schools shall operate under the provisions of their charters, specific state and/or federal 
laws, Title 5, California Code of Regulations adopted by the State Board of Education, and 
general oversight of and agreements with the chartering authority. 

While maximizing operational flexibility, the charter school petition shall include 
compliance-based components or other provisions mandated by law.  The County 
Superintendent of Schools shall establish administrative regulations for the process of 
submission, review, evaluation, and preparation of written findings for a charter petition 
submitted to the CBE prior to CBE action.  The administrative regulations shall include: 

 Specific details for the granting or denying of a charter petition.

 The process for submitting a charter petition.

 Guidelines to determine if a charter petition is consistent with the intent of the law and
sound educational practice to accomplish the goals and objectives of the Charter School
Act.

 Direction for performing a critical evaluation of the soundness of the proposed
educational program and the likeliness of its successful implementation.

 A process to ensure sound fiscal solvency and procedures.

 A plan for effective parental involvement in curricular and extra-curricular (school
related) activities.

The CBE shall ensure that any approved charter contains adequate processes and measures for 
holding the school accountable for fulfilling the terms of its charter.  These shall include, but not 
be limited to, fiscal accountability systems, multiple measures for evaluating the educational 
program, and regular reports to the CBE. 

The CBE believes that the continuing operation of a charter school should be dependent on the 
school's effectiveness in achieving its mission and goals for student learning, including student 
achievement for all numerically significant student subgroups served by the charter school. 

93



Denial of Petition 

A charter petition shall be denied only if the CBE presents written factual findings specific to the 
petition that one or more of the following conditions exist:  (Education Code 47605) 

 The charter school presents an unsound educational program for the students to be
enrolled in the charter school.

 The petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program set
forth in the petition.

 The petition does not contain the number of signatures required.

 The petition does not contain an affirmation of each of the conditions described in
Education Code 47605(d).

 The petition does not contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of the charter
provisions in Education Code 47605(b).

The CBE shall not deny a petition based on the actual or potential costs of serving students with 
disabilities, nor shall it deny a petition solely because the charter school might enroll disabled 
students who reside outside the special education local plan area in which the district 
participates.  (Education Code 47605.7, 47647)   

Further, the CBE shall deny any petition to authorize the conversion of a private school to a 
charter school or that proposes to serve students in a grade level that is not served by the 
SCCOE, unless the petition proposes to serve students in all the grade levels served by the 
SCCOE.  (Education Code 47602, 47605; 5 CCR 11965) 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

220 Nondiscrimination 
17078.52-17078.66 Charter schools facility funding; state bond proceeds 
17280-17317 Field Act 
17365-17374 Field Act, fitness for occupancy 
41365 Charter school revolving loan fund 
42238.51-42238.53 Funding for charter districts 
44237 Criminal record summary 
44830.1 Certificated employees, conviction of a violent or serious felony 
45122.1 Classified employees, conviction of a violent or serious felony 
46201 Instructional minutes 
47600-47616.7 Charter Schools Act of 1992 
47640-47647 Special education funding for charter schools 
47650-47652 Funding of charter schools 
51745-51749.3 Independent study 
53300-53303 Parent Empowerment Act 
56026 Special education 
56145-56146 Special education services in charter schools 

94



CORPORATIONS CODE 

5110-6910 Nonprofit public benefit corporations 

GOVERNMENT CODE 

3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 

4800-4808 Parent Empowerment Act 
11700.1-11705 Independent study 
11960-11969 Charter schools 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 24 

101 et seq. California Building Standards Code 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 

6316 Program improvement 
7223-7225 Charter schools 

COURT DECISIONS 

Ridgecrest Charter School v. Sierra Sands Unified School District, (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 986 

ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 

89 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 166 (2006) 
80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 52 (1997) 
78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 297 (1995) 
Management Resources: 

CSBA PUBLICATIONS 

The Role of the Charter School Authorizer, Online Course 
Charter Schools: A Manual for Governance Teams, rev. 2009 
Charter School Facilities and Proposition 39: Legal Implications for School Districts, 2005 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Sample Copy of a Memorandum of Understanding 
Special Education and Charter Schools: Questions and Answers, September 10, 2002 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION GUIDANCE 

Charter Schools Program, July 2004 
The Impact of the New Title I Requirements on Charter Schools, July 2004 

95



WEB SITES 

CSBA: http://www.csba.org 
California Charter Schools Association: http://www.calcharters.org 
California Department of Education, Charter Schools: http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/cs 
National Association of Charter School Authorizers: http://www.charterauthorizers.org 
U.S. Department of Education: http://www.ed.gov 

Originally Adopted:  May 17, 2018 

96



AR 0420.4 

REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 

The California Legislature established the Charter Schools Act of 1992 (Chapter 781, Statutes of 
1992), as amended, to provide opportunities for students, teachers, parents, and community 
members to establish and maintain nonsectarian schools that operate independently from the 
existing school structure.  Charter schools are considered part of the Public School System as 
defined in Article IX of the California Constitution and under the exclusive control of the 
officers of the public schools. [Education Code (E.C.) 47615 (a)(1)(2)] 

The chartering authority for approving a charter school in a district is the governing board (the 
Board). In a county office of education, the chartering authority is the Santa Cruz County Board 
of Education (County Board). 

Accordingly, in order to implement state law fully and fairly, to comply with the Santa Cruz 
County Office of Education's (SCCOE) Board Policy (BP) 0420.4 and to provide petitioner(s) 
with a thorough description of how the county shall meet its obligations under the law, the 
following are procedures to establish or renew a charter school: 

I. HOW CHARTERS ARE ORIGINATED AND FUNDED 

The law recognizes two “types” of charter school:  1) Conversion charter schools and 2) 
Start-up charter schools.  In the vernacular, charters are sometimes referred to as 
“dependent” and “independent.” 

A. “Dependent charters” are typically created by converting an existing school 
(Conversion Charter). It usually remains closely affiliated with the authorizing 
school district or county office. 

B. “Independent charters” are typically start-up charters that are formed by 
parents, teachers, community members or charter management organizations 
(Start-Up Charter).  Most of these charters operate as non-profit corporations. 

C. Locally funded charter schools receive their funds through the school district or 
county office that granted the charter.  Most “conversion” charters receive their 
funding in this manner. 

D. Direct funded charter schools elect to receive their funding directly from the 
County Superintendent of the county in which the authorizing board is located, 
making them truly “independent.”  [Charter Schools:  A Manual for Governance 
Teams, CSBA 2009] 

II. SOURCES OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS TO THE COUNTY BOARD

The County Board may receive charter school petitions in several ways:

A. On appeal, if a local district board denies a petition application that was submitted 
to it for original approval.  [E.C. 47605(j)(1)] 

97



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 2 

B. On appeal, if the granting board denies a request for renewing the charter upon 
the termination of its contract period. [E.C.47607.5] 

C. On appeal, if the granting board revokes the charter before its scheduled 
termination date.[E.C. 47607(f)(1)] 

D. On a direct filing, if the intent is to establish a countywide charter: This charter 
school may operate at one or more sites within the geographical boundaries of the 
county to provide instructional services that are not generally provided by a 
county office of education.  The County Board may only approve a countywide 
charter if it finds, in addition to other requirements to this section of Education 
Code, that the educational services provided by the charter school will offer 
services to a pupil population that will benefit from those services and that cannot 
be served as well by a charter that operates in only one district in the county. 
[E.C. 47605.6(a)(1)] 

E. On a direct filing for a charter school that will serve pupils for whom the County 
Office would otherwise be responsible for providing direct education and related 
services. [E.C. 47605.5] 

F. By assignment from the State Board of Education.  The SBE may, by mutual 
agreement, designate its supervisorial and oversight responsibilities for a charter 
school approved by the SBE to any local education agency in the county in which 
the charter school is located or to the governing board that first denied the 
petition. [E.C. 47605(k)(1)] 

III. SUBMITTING A CHARTER SCHOOL PETITION

A. Submission of Notice of Intent 

Charter school petitioners who wish to submit a petition to create a charter school 
or appeal a denial or revocation by the school district should file a Notice of 
Intent (see BP 0420.4 Exhibit 1) to the County Superintendent at least 2 weeks 
prior to submitting the charter petition.  The County Superintendent or designee 
shall respond to the petitioners that the Notice of Intent has been received. 

Note:  Prior to the submission of the petition, the Santa Cruz County 
Superintendent of Schools (County Superintendent) may authorize a coordinator 
to work with the charter school petitioners in order to gather information about 
the proposal and suggest components that would align the petition with student 
learning and existing education code requirements.  The County Superintendent 
may also appoint a coordinator and staff advisory committee to evaluate the 
substance of the petition once it meets the minimum eligibility requirements listed 
below. 

98



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 3 

B. Submission of Charter and Petition 

The proposed charter shall be attached to the petition [E.C. 47605 (a)(3)], and 
must set forth all of the elements of a charter and include or refer to such 
information as will enable the county office staff and County Board to complete 
the review process and affirmations [E.C. 47605 (a)-(h) and (l)].  Petitioners are 
required to submit 15 copies of the charter petition to the County Superintendent. 

It is the responsibility of the Petitioners to cross check paginations and to assure 
that page numbers are legible and are printed in correct sequence prior to 
submitting the petition. 

IV. PRELIMINARY REVIEW

The SCCOE Staff will conduct a preliminary review in preparation for the formal receipt
of the petition by the County Board. The purpose of the Preliminary Review is to confirm
receipt of all required documents to determine if the charter and the petition are complete
and legally compliant. The preliminary review will verify the following items:

A. The number of required petition signatures as stated by E.C. 47605 (a).  (The 
signatures requirement set forth in E.C. 47605 (a) is not applicable to a charter 
petition renewal). 

B. The charter is not a conversion of any private school to a charter school.  [E.C. 
47602 (b)] 

C. Required Affirmations: Statement that school will be non-sectarian in its 
programs, admission policies, employment practices, and all other operations, will 
not charge tuition, and will not discriminate against any pupil on the basis of 
ethnicity, national origin, gender or disability. 

D. Geographical and Site Limitations:  Does the Petition propose to operate a single 
charter school within the county, a countywide charter, or in the case of a charter 
proposal initially denied by a local governing board, within the geographic 
jurisdiction of the school district to which the charter was originally submitted? 

E. Effective Date: Does the Petition demonstrate that the charter school will 
commence operation by September 30 of its first year of operation? 

F. Financial Reports:  Does the Petition include all required financial reports per 
E.C. 47605 (g), namely: a proposed first-year operational budget including start-
up costs; a cash flow statement; and financial projections for the first three years 
of operation?  

99



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 4 

G. Required Supplementary Information:  Does the petition include the required 
supplemental information as stated by E.C. 47605 (d)(1) and (g). 

H. If the charter is appealing a denial by a District, the preliminary review will 
include all the following requirements:  [California Code of Regulations (CCR) 
Title 5 11967 (a) (1-4)] 

1. A charter petition that has been previously denied by the governing board
of a school district must be received by the County Board not later than
180 calendar days after the denial.

2. A complete copy of the charter petition as denied, including the signatures
required by Education Code section 47605.

3. Evidence of the governing board's action to deny the petition (e.g. meeting
minutes) and the governing board's written factual findings specific to the
particular petition, when available, setting forth specific facts to support
one or more of the grounds for denial set forth in E.C. 47605(b).

4. A signed certification stating that petitioner(s) will comply with all
applicable law.

5. A description of any changes to the petition necessary to reflect the
County Board as the chartering entity.

When the preliminary review is complete, the Petitioner will be notified of the 
next regularly scheduled County Board meeting when the County Board will 
formally receive the Petition.  A public hearing will be scheduled within 30 days 
of this formal receipt date of the petition, or within 60 days for a countywide 
charter school. 

If the charter petition is incomplete, the Petitioner will be notified in writing with 
specifications and reason (s) for rejecting the charter and petition.  The Petitioner 
will then have to make arrangements to resubmit the Petition at a later regular 
scheduled County Board Meeting date.  

V. IN-DEPTH REVIEW OF CHARTER PETITION BY THE SCCOE STAFF 

After the Preliminary Review has been conducted and the petition is deemed complete 
the lead project coordinator/administrator and other SCCOE Staff members appointed by 
the County Superintendent and representing the different operational specialties, will 
perform the following in-depth review of the charter’s documents: 

A. Validate the petition signature requirements set forth in [E.C 47605 (a)(1)(A) & 
(B)] 

100



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 5 

B. Validate Geographic and Site Limitations. A classroom based charter petition 
submitted directly to the County Board, as authorized by E.C 47605.5 or 47605.6 
may operate only within the territorial jurisdiction of the County Board. [E.C. 
47605.1 (f)]  However, petitions for independent study charters, whether 
characterized as home study or otherwise, may include pupils of Santa Cruz 
County and residents of immediately adjacent counties.  [E.C. 51747.3] 

C. Validate required affirmations. [E.C. 47605 (d) (1) and (g)] 

D. Verify effective dates (start and ending dates of school and proposed school 
calendar). 

E. Verify 15 required elements [E.C. 47605(b)(5)(A-O)]. For countywide charters, 
there are 16 required elements [E.C. 47605.6 (b)(5) (A-P)]. 

F. Verify required supplemental information per Ed Code 47605 (g): 

1. A proposed first-year operational budget including start-up costs; a cash
flow statement; financial projections for the first three years of operation;
facilities to be used; administrative services to be provided. [E.C. 47605
(g)]

2. Proposed Operation and Potential Effects (Impact Statement).

G. Verify required Special Education/ SELPA Services [E.C. 47640-47647] 

H. Verify that the charter school will provide the minimum number of minutes of 
instruction each fiscal year as required by E.C. 47612.5.   

The required elements will be reviewed using a Petition Review Checklist (Matrix).  The 
petition needs to contain a reasonably comprehensive description of the elements 
principally, that define educational goals, measurable student outcomes, student selection 
process, and the governance structure of the charter school and other components.  

Petitions are required to include charter assurances that contain a listing of all state and 
federal laws, local laws and regulations that pertain to the applicant or the operation of 
the charter school, statewide standards and assessments, non discriminatory clauses as 
stated by California Education Code and Exclusive Public School Employer Declarations 
[E.C. 47611.5(b)(c)], among other items.  

Petitions should also include information regarding the proposed operation and potential 
effects of the school, including, but not limited to, plans for facilities, fiscal allocation 
plan, and how special education services shall be provided.  [E.C. 42130 & 42131]  

101



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 6 

VI. PUBLIC HEARING

No later than 30 days after receiving the complete charter school petition, or 60 days in
the case of countywide charters, the County Board shall hold a public hearing on the
provisions of the charter petition.  The level of support for the petition by teachers
employed by the county or district, other employees of the county or district, and parents
shall be considered.  Charter petitioners shall appear and provide testimony to the County
Board.  This hearing date, except for the countywide charters, may be extended 30 days if
both parties agree to the extension.  [E.C. 47605(b)]

VII. COUNTY BOARD DECISION DATE

Within 60 calendar days of receiving a valid petition, or 90 days for countywide charters,
the County Board shall either grant or deny the request to establish a charter school.  The
date may be extended an additional 30 calendar days in either case upon the approval of
both parties. [E.C. 47605(b) and 47605.6(b)]

SCCOE Staff shall continue to organize activities, complete the comprehensive analysis
of the petition and present findings and recommendations to the County Board within the
timeframes.  The findings and recommendations should be submitted to the County
Superintendent in sufficient time to be incorporated into the formal report that will be
presented to the County Board.

VIII. COUNTY BOARD APPROVAL/DENIAL

The County Board shall either grant or deny the petition at a duly noticed public meeting.
The County Superintendent shall officially communicate in writing the decision of the
County Board to the charter school petitioners.  If approved, the initial term of the charter
may be granted up to 5 years.

If the County Board denies the charter petition, the communication shall include factual
findings, specific to the information and materials that were submitted, setting forth
specific facts under E.C. sections 47605(b)(1 through 5).  For countywide charters, the
references are E.C. 47605.6(b)(1 through 6).  The specific facts are shown below.

The governing board of a district or the County Board shall not deny a petition for the
establishment of charter school unless it makes written factual findings, specific to the
particular petition, setting forth specific facts to support one or more of the following
findings:

A. The charter school presents an unsound educational program for the pupils to be 
enrolled in a charter school. 

B. The petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program 
set forth in the petition. 

102



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 7 

C. The petition does not contain the number of signatures required by E.C. 47605(a), 
and E.C. 47605.6(a) for countywide schools. 

D. The petition does not contain an affirmation of each of the conditions described in 
E.C. 47605(d), and E.C. 47605.6(d) for countywide schools. 

E. The petition does not contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of all of the 
elements described in E.C 47605(b)(5)(A) through (O), and E.C. 
47605.6(b)(5)(A) through (P) for countywide schools. 

F. For countywide charter school petitions only: Any other basis that the Board 
finds is justification of denial of the petition.  [E.C. 47605.6(b)(6)] 

IX. QUALIFYING/DISQUALIFYING CONDITIONS

The SCCOE staff will include any specific factual findings related to the following
conditions:

A. The County Board shall not grant any charter that authorizes the conversion of a 
private school to a charter school. [E.C. 47602 (b)] 

B. The County Board shall not approve any charter petition that proposes to serve 
students in a grade level that is not served by the SCCOE, (or district, if the Board 
is requested to hear an appeal of a charter school that was denied by a district) 
unless the charter petition proposes to serve pupils in all the grade levels served 
by the SCCOE or the school district (whichever is applicable) [E.C. 47605(a)(6)]. 

C. The County Board shall not deny a petition based on the actual or potential costs 
of serving students with disabilities, nor shall it deny a petition solely because the 
charter school might enroll disabled students who reside outside the special 
education local plan area (SELPA) in which the SCCOE (or the district) 
participates. [E.C.47605.7] 

D. The County Board cannot deny granting the charter because (a) approval may 
cause financial hardship or (b) based on the actual or potential costs of serving 
“individuals with exceptional needs”, (“Exceptional needs” is defined pursuant to 
E.C.56026). 

E. In granting charter petitions, the County Board shall give preference to schools 
best able to provide comprehensive learning experiences of academically low-
achieving students. [E.C.47605.6 (i)] 

F. Each charter school shall adhere to all laws establishing minimum age for public 
school attendance. 

103



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 8 

G. The charter petition must specify that the charter school shall hold harmless and 
indemnify the County Board and its officers, and the County Superintendent and 
his/her officers and employees from any claim or demand of whatever nature, 
including those based upon the negligence of the County Board and its officers, 
and the County Superintendent and his/her officers and employees brought by any 
person, institution, or organization. 

H. The charter school, at its own cost, expense, and risk shall defend any legal 
proceedings that may be brought against the County Board and its officers, and 
the County Superintendent and his/her officers and employees, by any person, 
including any institution or organization, on any claim or demand of whatever 
nature arising out of the County Board granting a charter and shall satisfy any 
judgment that may be rendered against any of them.  The County Board and the 
County Superintendent shall notify the charter school of the receipt of any  such 
claims or demands. 

I. If the County Board grants a charter for the establishment of a charter school to be 
operated by, or as, a nonprofit public benefit corporation, the County Board may 
exercise its option to appoint a single representative on the board of directors of 
the nonprofit public benefit corporation [E.C. 47604(b)].  It shall be the policy of 
the County Board that any school representative, who may sit on the charter 
school board of directors, be a non-voting member, avoiding any appearance of a 
conflict of interest or interfering with the authority of the charter school board. 

X. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

Upon the approval of a charter petition, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is 
developed between the charter school and the authorizing board to clarify financial and 
operational issues.  An MOU is not required by charter law but is strongly recommended. 
It is usually negotiated during the petition approval process and, if approved by the 
County Board shall become an addendum to the charter. 

The MOU provides an opportunity for the County Board to spell out anything that was 
not included in the original charter petition.  It shall be reviewed annually and adjusted as 
necessary.  The SCCOE may request to expand on the legally required charter elements 
or other required parts of the petition, or may request to include some of the items 
discussed below.  The MOU serves as a binding legal agreement between the County 
Board, the SCCOE and the charter school to protect all parties.  Therefore, it is important 
to identify any matters for which the county office wants to hold the petitioners 
accountable.  

XI. AUTHORIZER’S RESPONSIBILITIES ONCE THE CHARTER HAS BEEN
GRANTED

Once granted, the County Board, in addition to any other duties described in this
Administrative Regulations (AR), is required to do all of the following with respect to
each charter school under its authority:

104



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 9 

A. Identify at least one staff member as a contact person for the charter school. 

B. Visit each charter school at least annually. 

C. Ensure that each charter school under its authority complies with all reports 
required of charter schools by law. 

D. Monitor the fiscal condition of each charter school under its authority. 

E. Provide timely notification to the State Department of Education if any of the 
following circumstances occur or will occur with regard to a charter school for 
which it is the chartering authority: 

1. A renewal of the charter is granted or denied.

2. The charter is revoked.

3. The charter school will cease operation for any reason.

The cost of performing the duties described above shall be funded with supervisorial 
oversight fees collected pursuant to E.C. 47613.  If the County Board authorizes a 
countywide charter school, the Board may enter into an agreement with a third party, as a 
condition to charter approval, to oversee, monitor, and report to the Board on the 
operations of the charter school.  The expense that may be incurred will be borne by the 
charter school. [E.C.47605.6(c)] 

XII. REPORTS TO THE COUNTY BOARD

A. Budget/Financial Annual Reports [E.C. 47604.33(a)] 

Each charter school shall submit the following reports to the County 
Superintendent annually: 

1. On or before July 1, a preliminary budget.

2. On or before December 15, an interim financial report reflecting changes
through October 31.

3. On or before March 15, a second interim financial report reflecting
changes through January 31.

4. On or before September 15, a final unaudited report for the full prior year.

The County Board shall use any financial information it obtains from the charter 
school, including, but not limited to, the reports required by this section, to assess 
the fiscal condition of the charter school.  

The cost of performing the duties required by this section shall be funded with 
supervisorial oversight fees collected pursuant to E.C.47613. 

105



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 10 

B. Financial Audit Report 

A charter school shall transmit a copy of its annual, independent, financial audit 
report for the preceding fiscal year to County Board, the Controller, and the 
California Department of Education by December 15 of each year.  This 
subdivision does not apply if the audit of the charter school is encompassed in the 
audit of the SCCOE. [E.C. 47605(m)]   

C. Annual Report to the Board 

Every year in May, the Charter Director shall present a report to the Board 
regarding the charter’s Academic Performance and Fiscal Accountability.  

XIII. CHARTER RENEWAL AND MATERIAL MODIFICATION OF AN APPROVED
CHARTER

A. Charter School Renewals

1. Applications to renew or materially modify the charter shall include all the
same information, be processed in the same way, and be subject to
approval or denial on the same basis as proposals for new charter schools.
Any renewal approval shall be for a period of five years from the
expiration date of the charter.  A material modification, when approved,
shall not affect the expiration date of the charter as originally approved.

2. The Petitioner shall file a Notice of Intent (see BP 0420.4 Exhibit 1) to
the County Superintendent at least 2 weeks prior to submitting the charter
petition renewal.

3. Following submission of the Notice of Intent, the petitioner may submit
the charter petition for renewal to the County Superintendent no later than
six months prior to the date of charter expiration. The County
Superintendent or designee shall respond to the petitioners that the Notice
of Intent has been received.

4. Legal Requirements:  Charter school renewals must comply with the
standards and criteria in E.C. 47605 and 47607.  A petition for renewal
must include the following:

a. Documentation that the charter school meets at least one of the
Renewal Criteria specified in E.C. 47607(b), (see below- Renewal
Criteria per E.C. 47607 (b))

b. A copy of the renewal charter petition including a reasonably
comprehensive description of how the charter school has met all
new charter school requirements enacted into law after the charter
was originally granted or last renewed.

106



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 11 

c. The signature requirement set forth in E.C. 47605(a) is not
applicable to a petition for renewal.

d. Any material revisions of the provisions of the previously
approved charter.

XIV. RENEWAL CRITERIA PER E.C. 47607(b)

The Charter school must meet at least one of the following criteria:

A. (A) The school district or county office of education that granted the charter 
determines that the academic performance of the charter school is at least equal to 
the academic performance of the public schools that the charter school pupils 
would otherwise have been required to attend, as well as the academic 
performance of the schools in the school district in which the charter school is 
located, taking into account the composition of the pupil population that is served 
at the charter school. 

(B) The determination made pursuant to this paragraph shall be based on all of the 
following: 

1. Documented clear and convincing data

2. Pupil achievement data from assessments, including, but not limited to,
the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress
(CAASPP).

3. Other information submitted by the charter school

(C) A chartering authority shall submit to the State Superintendent of Public 
Instruction copies of supporting documentation and a written summary of the 
basis for any determination made pursuant to this paragraph.  The State 
Superintendent of Public Instruction shall review the materials and make 
recommendations to the chartering authority based on that review.  The review 
may be the basis for a recommendation made pursuant to E.C. 47604.5. 

(D) A charter renewal may not be granted to a charter school prior to 30 days after 
the charter school submits materials pursuant to this paragraph.  Renewals  and 
material revisions of charters are governed by the standards and criteria in  E.C. 
47605 and 47607.  Whenever a charter is renewed or a material revision is 
granted, the charter petition must be revised to reflect any new requirement of 
charter schools enacted into law after the charter was originally granted or last 
renewed. 

B. Has qualified for the Dashboard Alternative School Status (DASS) pursuant to 
subdivision (h) of E.C. 52052. 

107



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 12 

Note: In rendering a decision for renewal, the county board shall consider the past 
performance of the school’s academics, finances, and operations in evaluating the 
likelihood of the future success, along with future plan for improvement if any. 

XV. Countywide Charter Renewals/Material Revisions

Countywide Charter Renewals are governed by the standards and criteria of E.C. 47605.6
and apply to charters granted under E.C.47605.6.

If a County Board denies a petition for renewal of a countywide charter school
established under E.C. 47605.6, the petitioner may not elect to submit the petition for
renewal of the countywide charter school to the State Board of Education.

An approved Countywide Charter School that proposes to establish operations at
additional sites within the county must apply to the County Board for a material revision.
The charter school must notify the school districts where those additional sites will be
located.  The Board will consider whether to approve the additional locations at a public
meeting held no sooner than 30 days after notification has been made to those school
districts.

XVI. Renewal Timeline/ Requirements

A. Any petition submitted to SCCOE shall start with the Notice of Intent (see BP 
0420.4 Exhibit1) 

B. In the spring of the 4th year of operation, the charter school will notify the SCCOE 
Staff regarding the upcoming renewal of their charter. 

C. The charter school shall submit its revised charter no sooner than October 1, of 
the 4th year. 

D. Once a petition for renewal is received, the same timeline as the petition review 
process for a petition on an appeal from a district will be followed.  A public 
hearing shall take place no later than 30 days of submission and a final decision 
shall be made within 60 days (or can be extended an additional 30 days with 
written mutual agreement by the charter school and chartering authority.)  For a 
countywide charter, no later than 60 days after receiving a petition the County 
Board shall hold a public hearing and render a decision within 90 days of receipt 
of the petition (or can be extended an additional 30 days with written mutual 
agreement by the charter school and chartering authority). 

E. There is no appeal from non-renewal of a countywide charter to the State Board 
of Education. 

108



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 13 

XVII. CHARTER PETITIONS THAT HAVE NOT BEEN RENEWED BY THE
SCHOOL DISTRICT – SUBMISSION TO THE COUNTY BOARD OF
EDUCATION

A. When the governing board of a school district denies a charter school’s petition 
for renewal, the charter school may submit a petition for renewal to the County 
Board not later than 30 calendar days after the district governing board makes its 
written factual findings. 

1. The County Board and the charter petitioner may extend this date by an
additional 30 days only by written mutual agreement. A petition for
renewal not submitted to the county board within this time shall be
considered denied with no further options for administrative appeal.

B. A petition for renewal, whether submitted to the County Board as the chartering 
authority or on appeal from denial of the renewal petition by the local governing 
board, shall be considered by the county office of education upon receipt of the 
petition with all the requirements set forth in this subdivision. 

1. Documentation that the charter school meets at least one criteria specified
in E.C. 47607(b).

2. A copy of the renewal charter petition as denied by the local board,
including a reasonably comprehensive description of how the charter
school has met all new charter school requirements enacted into law after
the charter was originally granted or last renewed.

3. The signature requirement set forth in E.C. 47605 (a) is not applicable for
petition renewal.

4. When applicable, a copy of the governing board’s denial and supporting
written factual findings, if available.

5. A description of any changes to the renewal petition necessary to reflect
the County Board as the chartering agency.

6. When considering a petition for renewal, the County Board shall consider
the past performance of the school’s academics, finances, and operations
in evaluating the likelihood of the future success, along with future plans
for improvement if any.

7. The County Board may deny a petition for renewal of a charter school
only if the County Board makes written factual findings, specific to the
particular petition, setting forth specific facts to support one or more of the
grounds for denial set forth, as applicable, in E.C. 47605(b) and
47605.6(b), or failure to meet one of the criteria in E.C. 47607(b).

109



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 14 

8. If within 60 days of a County Board’s receipt of a petition for renewal, the
County Board does not grant or deny the petition for the renewal of a
charter school, the charter school may submit a petition for renewal to the
State Board of Education (SBE).

9. The County Board and charter petitioner may extend this date by an
additional 30 days only by written mutual agreement.

XVIII. CHARTER PETITIONS THAT HAVE NOT BEEN RENEWED LOCALLY –
SUBMISSION TO THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION

A. Charter School 

When the County Board denies or takes no action on a charter school’s petition 
for renewal, the charter school may submit a petition for renewal to the State 
Board of Education. 

B. Countywide Charter School 

If the County Board denies a countywide charter’s request for renewal (Refer to 
section XV: Countywide Charter Renewals/Material Revisions), the petitioner 
may not appeal to the State Board of Education. 

XIX. FAILING TO ACT ON CHARTER RENEWAL BY A DISTRICT GOVERNING
BOARD

If within 60 days of its receipt of a petition for renewal, a district governing board has not
made a written factual finding as mandated by E.C. 47605(b), the absence of written
factual findings shall be deemed an approval of the petition renewal.

The district governing board and charter petitioner may extend this date by an additional
30 days only by written mutual agreement.

XX. OTHER CHARTER PROCEDURES

A. Material Revisions to an Approved Charter 

A material revision is any revision made to the charter that has an impact on 
budget, change in program or facility, and was not specified in the original 
charter.  
A material revision of the provisions of a charter petition may be made only with 
the approval of the County Board.  The County Board may inspect or observe any 
part of the charter school at any time. (E.C. 47607 [a][1]). 

All material amendments/revisions must contain a reasonably comprehensive 
description of any new requirements of charter schools enacted into law after the 
charter was originally granted or last renewed (E.C. 47607 [a][2]). 

110



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 15 

1. The charter school shall submit a written request to the County Board
specifying the revised charter language.  The County Board has the power
to approve the revision, and consideration of the revision is governed by
the standards and criteria in E.C. 47605 or 47605.6 for countywide
charters.

2. The County Board shall agenda the request for consideration of approval,
per usual procedures.

3. SCCOE staff shall review the requested material revision and shall
evaluate it pursuant to E.C. 47605 or 47605.6 for countywide charters.

SCCOE Staff shall determine if the material revision would be an unsound educational 
program, if the revision would make the charter school demonstrably unlikely to succeed, 
if a reasonably comprehensive description of the revision is provided, if budget 
implications are adequate to the revision request, and if the material change is otherwise 
lawful. 

XXI. APPEALS OF CHARTER PETITIONS THAT HAVE BEEN PREVIOSLY
DENIED BY A DISTRICT

In considering a charter petition previously denied by a school district, the County Board
shall not limit the review to the reasons for denial stated by the school district, but shall
conduct a new review and findings and report said findings as stipulated in this
regulation.

A. A charter school whose petition has been denied by the governing board of a 
school district must be received by the County Board no later than 180 calendar 
days after the denial.  Any petition received more than 180 days after denial shall 
not be acted upon by the County Board. [5 CCR 11967(a)] 

B. When filing an appeal with the County Board for the establishment of a charter 
school, petitioners shall be required to provide the following:  

1. A complete copy of the charter petition as denied, including the signatures
required by E.C. 47605.

2. A copy of the school district’s governing board’s action of denial of the
petition (e.g. meeting minutes) and the governing board’s written factual
findings specific to the particular petition, as required by E.C. 47605(b).

3. A signed certification of compliance with applicable law.

111



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 16 

4. An original charter petition and 15 copies of the charter petition with
appropriate changes making SCCOE the authorizing entity. The petition
shall include a description of any necessary changes to the petition to
reflect the County Board as the chartering entity.  It is the responsibility of
the Petitioners to cross check paginations and to assure that page numbers
are legible and are printed in correct sequence.

5. Grade Level Limitations Statement: The petition shall include a statement
in reference to the grade levels that are served by the district that
originally denied it.

C. The County Board is required to hold a public hearing within 30 calendar days, 
after officially receiving the petition during a regularly scheduled Board meeting. 
The petition shall satisfy the signature requirements as required by E.C. 47605. 
The purpose of the hearing is to determine the level of support for the proposed 
charter school from the petitioners, teachers, other employees, parents/guardians, 
and the public.  The Board is not required to ask questions or make comments at 
this time. 

D. The County Board shall grant or deny the charter petition no later than 60 days 
after receiving the complete charter petition.  These dates may be extended 30 
days if the petitioner(s) and the County Board agree to the extension. 

The initial charter may be granted for a period not to exceed 5 years, and renewed one or 
more times.  Each renewal shall be for a period of 5 years.  [E.C. 47607(a)(1)] 

If the petition is denied, the petitioners may file an appeal for the establishment or 
renewal of a charter school to the State Board of Education.  [E.C. 47605(j)(1)]  If the 
County Board upholds a revocation of a charter school, the appeal reference is E.C. 
47607(f)(3).  Denial of countywide school petitions cannot be appealed to the State 
Board.  [E.C. 47605.6(k)] 

If either the County Board or the State Board fails to act on a petition within 120 days of 
receipt, the decision shall, thereafter, be subject to judicial review.  [E.C. 47605(j)(4)]   

XXII. APPEALS OF CHARTER SCHOOLS WHOSE CHARTERS HAVE BEEN
REVOKED

A school district charter whose charter has been revoked may appeal the revocation
decision within 30 days to the County Board. [E.C. 47607(f)(1)]

A. A charter may be revoked by the granting authority if the authority shows 
substantial evidence that the charter did any of the following: [E.C. 47607(c)] 

1. Committed a material violation of any of the conditions, standards, or
procedures set forth in the charter.

112



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 17 

2. Failed to meet or pursue any of the pupil outcomes identified in the
chapter.

3. Failed to meet generally accepted accounting principles, or engaged in
fiscal mismanagement.

4. Violated any provision of law.

B. Prior to revoking a charter, the chartering authority shall notify the charter school 
of any violation listed above and give the school a reasonable opportunity to 
remedy the violation, unless the chartering authority determines, in writing, that 
the violation constitutes a severe and imminent threat to the health or safety of the 
pupils.  [E.C. 47607(d)]  

C. The chartering authority shall provide a written notice of intent to revoke the 
charter if, after the expiration of a reasonable time, the charter school failed to 
remedy the violation.  No later than 30 days after providing the written notice of 
intent to revoke, the chartering authority shall hold a public hearing during a 
regular board meeting on the issue of whether evidence exists to revoke the 
charter. [E.C. 47607(e)] 

D. No later than 30 days after the public hearing, or 60 days in the case of a 
countywide charter school, unless both parties agree to a 30 day extension, the 
chartering authority shall issue a final decision to revoke or decline to revoke.  A 
revocation notice shall include a written statement of the factual findings, 
supported by substantial evidence specific to the charter school. [E.C. 47607(e)] 

E. The County Board may reverse the revocation decision if the County Board 
determines that the findings made by the chartering authority are not supported by 
substantial evidence.  The County Board may also review the process followed by 
the district board to determine if the appropriate procedures were followed. 

If the County Board does not issue a decision within 90 days of receipt or upholds 
the revocation, the school district may appeal the reversal to the State Board of 
Education.  [E.C. 47607(f)(3)] 

If the County Board revokes a charter for which it is the chartering authority, the 
charter school may appeal the revocation decision within 30 days, to the State 
Board.  [E.C. 47607(g)]  The exception is that a countywide charter school 
revocation cannot be appealed to the State Board of Education.  [E.C. 47605.6(k)]  

F. If the State Board reverses the revocation on appeal, the agency that granted the 
charter shall continue to be regarded as the chartering authority.  [E.C. 47607(h)] 

113



AR 0420.4 
REVIEW OF CHARTER SCHOOL PETITIONS 
Page 18 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

11967(a)(1-4); 42130; 42131; 47602(b); 47604(b); 47604.5; 47604.33(a); 47605; 47605(a-p); 
47605.1(f); 47605.5; 47605.6; 47605.6(a); 47605.6(b); 7605.6(c); 47605.6(d); 47605.6(h); 
47605.6(k); 47605.7; 47607; 47607(a-h); 47607.5; 47611.5(b-c); 47613; 47615(a)(1-2); 51747.3; 
52026; 52052(h) 

CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS 

5 CCR 11967(a)(1-4) 

STATUTES 

Charter 781 
Statutes of 1992 

Approved: May 17, 2018 

114



        BP 0420.4 
Exhibit I 

Notice of Intent to Submit Charter School Application 

PETITION FOR ESTABLISHMENT OF A CHARTER SCHOOL 

 Appeal submission following denial by a district   DATE STAMP 

 Petition submitted directly to the County Board 
(Countywide Charter or County Operated Charter) 

 Charter Renewal Petition/Last Renewal:  _______________________________ 

CHARTER SCHOOL INFORMATION 

Name of proposed charter school:  _________________________________________________ 

General location (including district) of proposed charter school:  _________________________ 

Projected grade levels:   _____________________ 

Projected Enrollment:  ______________________ 

Goal date for opening school:  ________________ 

LEAD PETITIONER CONTACT INFORMATION 

Name of lead petitioner:  _________________________________________________________ 
(Please attach biographical information) 

Address (City, State, Zip):  _______________________________________________________ 

Daytime Phone Numbers:  _________________ __________________   Fax:  ___________ 

Email Address:  ________________________________________________________________ 

CHARTER DEVELOPMENT TEAM MEMBERS 

________________________     ________________________     ________________________ 

________________________     ________________________     ________________________ 

________________________     ________________________     ________________________ 

CERTIFICIATION 

Print Name:  _________________     Signature:  _____________________     Date:  _________ 

Print Name:  _________________     Signature:  _____________________     Date:  _________ 

Print Name:  _________________     Signature:  _____________________     Date:  _________ 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Print Name:  ________________     Signature:  ____________________     Date:  _________ 

115


	July 2018 - REGULAR Board Agenda
	REC - Special Board Minutes - June 1,  2018
	Special Minutes - June 1,  2018
	REC - Special Board Minutes - June 14,  2018
	Special Meeting Minutes - June 14, 2018
	REC - Regular Board Minutes - June 21, 2018
	Regular Meeting Minutes - June 21, 2018
	REC - Donations
	Childhood Advisory Council
	Findings of Fact - Watsonville Prep School Charter Petition
	navigator response to PV denial
	BP0420-4
	AR 0420
	AR 0420 Exhibit I



